

Durham E-Theses

Biochemical investigation of carbamylated proteins from Arabidopsis thaliana

WIGHT, TARA, ISABEL, CANELA

How to cite:

WIGHT, TARA, ISABEL, CANELA (2018) Biochemical investigation of carbamylated proteins from Arabidopsis thaliana, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/12582/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Biochemical investigation of carbamylated proteins from *Arabidopsis thaliana*

This thesis is submitted for the degree of Master of Research

Tara Isabel Canela Wight

Department of Biosciences Durham University 2017



Abstract

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) plays a vital role in biological processes including photosynthesis, respiration, and multiple signalling pathways. CO₂ is able to interact with proteins by forming carbamates on neutral amine groups. However, due to the labile nature of this post-translational modification, carbamates are extremely difficult to observe and have therefore gone under-researched. The recent development of a novel technique to trap carbamates on proteins has led to identification of a range of carbamylated proteins from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. This thesis describes an investigation into the effect of carbamylation on the activity of two such proteins.

Fructose 1,6 bisphosphate aldolase (FBA1) is a metabolic enzyme that contains a carbamate modification on lysine 293. Activity assays conducted in the presence and absence of CO_2 indicated that the cleavage activity of FBA1 is not affected by CO_2 concentration. Similarly, analysis of subunit conformation indicated that the proportion of protein present as a tetramer was not affected by increasing the CO_2 concentration. However, investigation of a mutant that cannot form a carbamate, FBA1-K293A, suggested that the carbamylated lysine residue may important for protein function. Mutating residue 293 to glutamate also produced a protein with reduced activity compared with the WT. It was not possible to conclude from trapping experiments and mass spectrometry analysis whether the carbamate modification may still have been present on the WT protein during earlier experiments in the absence of CO_2 .

Three putative carbamates have previously been identified on the non-specific lipid binding protein LTP1. The lipid binding affinity of LTP1 was investigated using the fluorescent probe TNS. This was found to be significantly reduced in the absence of CO_2 . The mutant protein LTP1-K65A, which is unable to form one of the three putative carbamates identified on this protein, also had reduced binding in the absence of CO_2 . Preliminary dose response experiments indicated that this protein does have a lower affinity for TNS than the WT, however the effect observed in the absence of CO_2 is likely to be due to the action of one of the other carbamates.

Although the effect of carbamate modifications on the function of these two proteins was not fully determined in this investigation, the results suggest that the recently

developed carbamate trapping technique provides an effective method for identifying functionally relevant novel carbamates.

Contents

ABSTRACT	
DECLARATION	4
STATEMENT OF COPYRIGHT	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Overview	8
1.2 RISING ATMOSPHERIC CARBON DIOXIDE	8
1.3 CARBON DIOXIDE IN BIOLOGICAL SYSTEMS	9
1.3.1 Photosynthesis	9
1.3.2 The effect of CO_2 concentration on crop yield	
1.3.3 CO ₂ detection and signalling in plants	
1.4 CARBAMYLATION	15
1.5 TRAPPING CARBAMATES	17
1.6 CARBAMYLATED PLANT PROTEINS	19
1.6.1 RuBisCo	
1.6.2 Urease	20
1.6.3 Putative carbamates identified by Linthwaite (2017)	20
1.7 MOTIVATION FOR INVESTIGATION	21
1.7.1 Project relevance	21
1.7.2 Aims and Hypotheses	
CHAPTER 2. METHODS	24
2 1 TRANSFORMING CELLS	2.4
2.2 LABGE SCALE EXPRESSION OF EBA1 PROTEIN	
2.3 PUBIFICATION OF FBA1 PROTEIN	
2.4 SDS-PAGE GEI	
2.5 FBA1 CLEAVAGE ASSAY	
2.6 NATIVE PAGE GELS	
2.6.1 polyhistidine stain	
2.6.2 Coomassie stain	
2.7 ONE STEP PCR MUTAGENESIS	27
2.8 COLONY PCR	
2.9 Agarose gel	29
2.10 PLASMID PURIFICATION BY MINI-PREP	29
2.11 TEST EXPRESSION OF LTP1	
2.12 LARGE SCALE EXPRESSION OF LTP1	
2 13 REFOLDING LTP1 PROTEIN FROM INCLUSION BODIES	21
	J I
2.14 PURIFICATION LTP1	
2.14 PURIFICATION LTP1 2.15 LTP1 TNS BINDING ASSAY	
2.15 LTP1 TNS BINDING ASSAY	
2.16 LTP1 TNS BINDING ASSAY 2.16 LTP1 TNS BINDING DOSE RESPONSE CURVE 2.17 LTP1 LIPID BINDING ASSAY	
2.14 Purification LTP1 2.15 LTP1 TNS BINDING ASSAY 2.16 LTP1 TNS BINDING DOSE RESPONSE CURVE 2.17 LTP1 LIPID BINDING ASSAY 2.18 CARBAMATE TRAPPING ON FBA1	
2.14 Purification LTP1 2.15 LTP1 TNS binding assay 2.16 LTP1 TNS binding dose response curve 2.17 LTP1 Lipid binding assay 2.18 Carbamate trapping on FBA1 2.19 Protein Digestion	31 32 32 32 32 33 33

2.21 MASS-SPECTROMETRY DATA ANALYSIS	34
CHAPTER 3: FBA1	35
3.1 Overview	35
3.2 EXPRESSION OF FBA1	36
3.3 FBA1 CLEAVAGE ACTIVITY ASSAY	38
3.3.1 Mechanism	39
3.3.2 Testing activity of purified protein wash fractions	40
3.3.3 Assaying activity in the presence and absence of CO2	42
3.4 STRUCTURE	45
3.4.1 Native-PAGE gels	46
<u>3.5 K293E</u>	50
3.5.1 PCR mutagenesis	51
3.5.2 Expression	51
3.5.3 Cleavage assays	53
3.6 TRAPPING FBA1 AT ATMOSPHERIC CO2	55
3.7 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	58
CHAPTER 4: LIPID TRANSFER PROTEIN 1	60
4.1 Overview	60
4.2 EXPRESSION	62
4.2.1 Test expression	62
4.2.2 Large-scale expression	63
4.3 Assaying Lipid Binding of WT LTP1	65
4.3.1 TNS dose response curves	65
4.3.2 Assaying lipid binding activity with and without CO2	67
4.4 ASSAYING LIPID BINDING ACTIVITY OF THE MUTANT LTP1-K65A	69
4.4.1 Expression	70
4.4.2 Assaying lipid binding activity of K65A in the presence and absence of	
CO ₂	71
4.4.3 Dose response curve	73
4.5 BINDING OF LTP1 TO BIOLOGICALLY RELEVANT LIPIDS	75
4.5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	77
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	80
REFERENCES	82

Declaration

The work presented in this thesis was carried out at the Durham University between October 2016 and September 2017. The work is my own original research unless otherwise indicated by statement or citation, and has not been submitted for any other qualification.

Statement of copyright

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Martin Cann for his support throughout this project and his endless optimism that science will eventually work. I would like to thank Dr Phil Townsend for sharing his vast molecular biology expertise and Dr Victoria Linthwaite for all her guidance and encouragement even on my slowest of days. Thanks also to the other members of labs 234 and 229 for making this year so enjoyable, and to Mitchell Gillies, without whom I might still be lost in a tangle of formatting.

Abbreviations

ABA	Abscisic acid
Arabidopsis	Arabidopsis thaliana
Ca ²⁺	Calcium ions
CI	Chlorine
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CCS	Carbon capture and storage
Da	Daltons
DHAP	Dehydroxyacetone-phosphate
E.coli	Escherichia coli
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ESI	Electrospray ionisation
FACE	Free-air CO ₂ enrichment
FBA	Fructose 1,6 bisphosphate aldolase
FBP	Fructose 1,6 bisphosphate
GCA2	Controlled by ABA 2
GDH	a-glycerophosphate dehydrogenase
G3P	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate
HCO ³⁻	Bicarbonate ion
IPTG:	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
K ⁺	Potassium ion
LTP	Lipid transfer protein
MS	Mass spectrometry
MW	Molecular weight
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NAD ⁺	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NaHCO₃	Sodium bicarbonate
OC	Oleoyl coA
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction

PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
RuBisCo	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase oxygenase
RuBP	Ribulose 1,5 bisphosphate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
SuBP	Sedoheptulose-1,7-biphosphate
SLAC1	Slow anion channel-associated 1
TBE	Tris/Borate/EDTA buffer
TEO	Triethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate
TNS	6-(p-Toluidino)-2-naphthalenesulfonic acid
TPI	Triosephosphate isomerase
UV	Ultraviolet
WT	Wild type

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview

The research presented in this thesis is an investigation into the effect of carbon dioxide (CO_2) on the function of two proteins from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. These two proteins, Fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolase (FBA1) and non-specific lipid transfer protein 1 (LTP1), are both thought to interact with CO_2 by forming carbamates on specific lysine residues. Carbamates are post-translational modifications that have been shown to have a regulatory function for certain proteins. However, due to their labile nature, very little research has been undertaken investigating the role of carbamates in the function of proteins. This project aimed to elucidate the role of carbamates in the function of these two proteins, with the hope that this would increase our knowledge of how carbamates may function more generally within biological systems.

This chapter will include a general introduction to what is already known about the role of CO_2 in biological systems and will discuss why it is important for us to fully understand how rising CO_2 may affect plant growth. Finally, it will cover the process by which carbamates are able to form and which proteins are known to contain these post-translational modifications.

1.2 Rising atmospheric carbon dioxide

Atmospheric CO₂ is rising due to deforestation and the burning of fossil fuels. By 2100 the concentration of CO₂ in air may rise to as much as 1000 μ mol mol⁻¹ from pre-industrial levels of just 280 μ mol mol⁻¹. This large increase in greenhouse gasses means that global temperatures will rise, precipitation will be more variable and extreme weather events will increase both in terms of frequency and severity (IPCC, 2014). All of these effects are likely to have a detrimental effect on crop yield across the globe. Understanding the effect of this elevated CO₂ on plant growth is therefore of vital importance for predicting the future of crop security.

1.3 Carbon dioxide in biological systems

CO₂ is an essential substrate for photosynthesis, is produced as a by-product of respiration and is involved in acid-base homeostasis (Raines, 2003; Hetherington and Raven, 2005; Gutknecht *et al.* 1977). It is also known to play an important signalling role in many biological processes (Hetherington and Raven, 2005).

Inorganic carbon exists in solution in a pH - dependant equilibrium. Below pH 6.4, CO_2 is the dominant form of inorganic carbon, whereas above this pH bicarbonate (HCO₃) is more prevalent. At even higher pH values, above 10.3, CO_3^{-2} dominates. Carbonic anhydrases are important enzymes in biological systems including plants as they increase the rate at which these forms of inorganic carbon are interconverted (Moroney *et al.* 2001).

$CO_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow HCO_3^- + H + \leftrightarrow CO_3^{-2} + 2H^+$

Changes in CO_2 concentration are known to regulate multiple signalling processes in a variety of organisms (Taylor and Cummins, 2011; Hall *et al.* 2010; Sitt and Krapp, 1999). However, it is usually assumed that it is either the action of bicarbonate or of changing pH that has a physiologically relevant effect on protein function. Considerably less investigation has been done in to the direct effect of CO_2 itself on protein function.

1.3.1 Photosynthesis

The role of CO_2 as a substrate for photosynthesis is perhaps the most obvious use for this molecule in all of biological science. The primary mechanism for this process of carbon fixation in plants is the Calvin Cycle

q

(Raines, 2003) (Figure 1.2). Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase oxygenase (RuBisCo) is the first enzyme to act in this pathway and catalyses the formation of two molecules of 3-phosphoglycerate by combining CO_2 and ribulose 1,5 bisphosphate (RuBP) (Andersson, 2008). This light-dependant cycle involves a total of 11 enzymes, resulting in regeneration of RuBP and the formation of compounds that are essential for plant growth and development (Raines, 2003).



Figure 1-1: The Calvin Cycle. Rubisco initiates the cycle by catalysing carboxylation of RuBP to form 3-phosphoglycerate. As the cycle progresses RuBP is regenerated and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate is produced, which goes on to form molecules important for growth.

1.3.2 Effect of CO₂ concentration on crop yield

As CO_2 is a primary substrate for photosynthesis, the process necessary for production of sugars required for growth, it could be expected that an increase in atmospheric CO_2 concentration would lead to an increase in carbon fixation, plant growth, and consequently crop yield. Early studies investigating impact of rising atmospheric CO_2 on crop species did indeed indicate that elevated CO_2 causes a considerable increase in yield (Kimball, 1983). However, these studies were conducted in controlled chambers and may not be representative of how plants would respond to increased CO_2 in the field. The development of free-air CO_2 enrichment (FACE) technology has allowed the effect of elevated CO2 to be observed in a more natural growing environment. This allows elevated levels of CO_2 to be maintained in open sections of field throughout entire growing seasons. Large scale meta– analysis of FACE experiments suggests that rising CO_2 may indeed increase agricultural yield, as well as increasing canopy temperature and reducing evapotranspiration (Kimball, 2016).

It is notable that C4 and C3 plants have been found to respond differently to rising CO₂, with C4 plants generally only showing a significant increase in yield when water was limiting. This is likely to be due the location of the Calvin cycle enzyme RuBisCo. In C3 plants such as wheat, RuBisCo is in cells in direct contact with the atmosphere and is not saturated with CO₂. However, in C4 plants such as maize, RuBisCo is located in bundle sheath cells in which localised concentrations of CO₂ are more than three times higher than atmospheric conditions (Long *et al.* 2006, Kimball, 2016). Therefore conditions of high atmospheric CO₂ such as those predicted for the end of this century may have a negligible effect on the yield of C4 plants, while leading to an increase in yield for C3 plants.

However, despite these comforting predictions that elevated CO_2 will increase crop yield, there is some controversy over the figures. Long *et al.* (2006)

11

argue that from their analysis, FACE experiments show less than half the additional yield from elevated CO₂ than was expected from the results of chamber experiments. They also state that FACE experiments don't show any increase in yield for the grain crops of Sub-Saharan Africa with increasing CO₂. As this area is likely to be one of those worst hit by the negative effects of climate change, the lack of any compensating increase in yield due to higher CO₂ levels could lead to serious challenges for food security. Additionally, meta-analysis studies of FACE experiments have been criticised as they may be significantly affected by reporting bias. Statistical analysis of these studies by Haworth et al. (2016) suggests that yield increases may have been overestimated. This could suggest that yield increase due to elevated CO₂ will not be sufficient to compensate for the detrimental effects of other aspects of climate change on crop survival. Additionally, research in to the nutrient content of plants grown under conditions of elevated CO₂ suggests that when the yield is increased, the concentration of nutrients in crops decreases (Loladze, 2014). Gaining a clearer understanding of how crops will be affected by elevated CO_2 is therefore extremely important.

1.3.3 CO₂ detection and signalling in plants

Elevated CO₂ has been shown to have numerous effects in plants. These include increasing the rate of photosynthesis, decreasing the amount of RuBisCo protein present in cells and decreasing plant nitrogen concentration (Sitt and Krapp, 1999).

CO₂ enters plant cells both by diffusion across the plasma membrane and via aquaporins such as NtAQP1. Expression of this aquaporin has been shown to increase both the permeability of the membrane to CO₂ and the rate of photosynthesis, indicating a physiologically significant role in CO₂ transport in to cells (Uehlein *et al.* 2003).

17

A particularly important role for CO₂ in plant cell signalling is in the regulation of stomatal aperture (Kim et al. 2010). Stomata are pores through which the CO₂ required for photosynthesis enters the plant. The size of the stomatal opening is regulated by a pair of guard cells in order to prevent excessive transpirational water loss (Esau, 1977). CO₂ and abscisic acid (ABA) signalling converge in guard cells leading to stomatal closure. This complex signalling pathway leads to transport of ions such as K+, malate and Cl⁻ across guard cell membranes, changing the osmotic potential and thus regulating stomatal aperture (Kim et al. 2010). Only a few mutants have been identified which show an altered stomatal response to CO2. The slac1 mutant is completely insensitive to CO₂, as well as to ABA and ozone. SLAC1 is therefore though to be a positive mediator of CO₂-induced stomatal closure (Vahisalue et al. 2008). SLACK1 is a subunit of anion channels and controls ion homeostasis in guard cells (Kim et al. 2010, Negi et al. 2008). The SLAC1 anion channel has been shown to be activated by bicarbonate, however the bicarbonate-binding proteins responsible for this activation have not been identified (Xue et al. 2011). HT1 kinase is the only known negative regulator of CO₂ induced stomatal closure, with ht1-2 mutants showing a constitutive CO₂ response in stomatal aperture (Hashimoto, 2006) (Figure 1-2).



Figure 1-2: Simplified model showing convergence of CO_2 and ABA signalling leading to stomatal closure. Here carbonic anhydrases 1 and 4, GCA2 (Controlled by ABA 2) and the anion channel SLAC 1 are positive regulators of stomatal closure, while the HT1 kinase acts as a negative regulator of this process.

Additionally, long-term exposure to high CO_2 concentrations leads to a decrease in stomatal density, indicating a regulatory role for CO_2 in stomatal development (Xu *et al.* 2016, Woodward, 1987). The HIC gene has been identified as a negative regulator for stomatal development. Mutants for this gene were shown to have increased stomatal density when the concentration

of CO₂ was doubled (Gray *et al.* 2000). It is not yet known how CO₂ has this effect on this developmental pathway.

Another potentially important effect of elevated CO_2 is its influence on nitrogen metabolism. Numerous studies have shown that the efficiency of nitrogen use is increased in conditions of elevated CO_2 . Additionally the concentration of nitrogen within the plant decreases when CO_2 levels are high. Many aspects of plant growth are regulated by nitrate and nitrogen metabolism. Therefore CO_2 may be influencing plant growth by changing nitrogen concentration and use efficiency (Sitt and Krapp, 1999).

As these examples demonstrate, CO_2 is known to be involved in multiple signalling pathways, which are required for various cellular processes. Elevated CO_2 is therefore likely to have a far more complex effect than simply causing an increase in the rate of photosynthesis. As such, gaining a better understanding of the role of CO_2 in plant growth and development at the molecular level is of vital importance for predicting the effect that rising CO_2 levels will have on crop yield.

1.4 Carbamylation

An important mechanism by which CO₂ may directly influence cellular processes is by interacting with proteins. CO₂ is generally an unreactive molecule, however it is able to combine with amine groups under ordinary conditions to form carbamates. These are labile post-translational modifications and are thermally unstable (Hampe *et al.* 2003). Carbamates can form either on the N-terminal amine of proteins or on the side chain of lysine residues. Nucleophilic attack of neutral amines on CO₂ leads to the formation of a carbamate (Figure 1-3). This reaction is in an acid-base equilibrium (Hampe *et al.* 2003). Carbamate formation was first detected over 100 years ago, and was one of the first post-translational modifications to be

identified (Jorgensen and Stiles, 1917). However, due to the labile nature of this modification, very little research has been done in to carbamylation as a means of regulating protein function.



Figure 1.3: Reversible carbamate formation on a lysine residue. Carbamates can only form on uncharged amines.

Carbamylation may alter protein function in multiple ways. Carbamylation of an active site lysine creates an acidic residue, which can play a direct role in enzyme catalysis (Dementin *et al.* 2001). In other cases carbamylation can allow bridging of metal ions, causing conformational changes which are necessary for protein function (Stec, 2012). The first enzyme identified that is activated by carbamate formation was RuBisCo (Lorimer and Miziorko, 1980). In mammalian systems, the best-known functional example of carbamate formation is the interaction of CO_2 with the N-terminal amine group of haemoglobin chains resulting in a change in the oxygen binding properties of this protein (Vandegriff *et al*, 1991).

Basic conditions have been shown to favour carbamate formation, with the proportion of amino acid in the carbamylated form increasing with increasing pH (Stadie and O'Brien, 1935). This is because the amine group on lysine

must be in an uncharged state in order for carbamylation to occur. The pKa of the amine group on lysine varies with environment, averaging from 9-10 (Abraham *et al.* 2009). Therefore under normal conditions within plant cells most amine groups will be charged and thus unable to form carbamates. Nevertheless, carbamates are known to form on certain proteins. This may be due to microenvironments within folded proteins creating conditions more favourable to carbamate formation (Gros and Bauer, 1987).

Carbamylation may be a more common post-translational modification than is generally thought (Morrow *et al.* 1974). Recent computational models predict that at least 1.3% of large proteins may contain carbamylated lysine residues, suggesting that carbamylation may be an important general method for regulating protein activity (Jimenez-Morales *et al.* 2014).

Despite the great potential for carbamylation as a regulatory mechanism, very little work has been done to investigate this post-translational modification. This is mainly due to the challenges involved in observing carbamates. They are labile and the carboxyl group is released in acidic conditions, making this modification extremely hard to detect using mass spectrometry. Proteins containing labile modifications are not easy to crystallize, and identification of particular post-translational modifications in crystal structures is difficult (Jimenez-morales *et al.* 2014). Additionally, the conditions for crystallization may not be physiologically relevant. Because of these difficulties, the development of a method for stabilising carbamates on proteins was essential (Linthwaite, 2017).

1.5 Trapping carbamates

The recent development of soft ionisation techniques for mass spectrometry have made it possible to identify carbamate formation on proteins, however it was not possible to locate these post translational modifications to a specific

17

amino acid as the high energy required for fragmentation results in release of CO_2 (Terrier and Douglas, 2010). Carbamates have been successfully identified using mass spectrometry, however these occurred at pH values significantly higher than those found in biological systems so may not be physiologically relevant.

Linthwaite (2017) developed a novel method for trapping carbamates on proteins by ethyl esterification with the electrophilic reagent TEO. An ethyl group is transferred to the CO_2 molecule bound to an amine (Figure 1-4). This stabilises the modification and prevents release of CO_2 . The trapped carbamate is then stable and can be detected using mass spectrometry. One of the major benefits of this method compared to previous work is that it enables trapping of carbamates to occur in solution under physiologically relevant pH and CO_2 concentration.



Figure 1-4: Ethyl esterification of a carbamylated lysine residue with the reagent TEO.

The reagent TEO has a half-life of 7.4 min (King *et al.* 1986), allowing the pH of the reaction to be maintained at physiological levels. This was achieved by the controlled addition of NaOH using a pH stat.

This technique was used to successfully trap a carbamate on the N-terminal amine group of haemoglobin, a protein that is already known to form a

18

carbamate (Perella and Rossi-Bernandi, 1980). It was then possible to observe this carbamate using mass spectrometry, demonstrating that this novel trapping technique provides an effective mechanism for identifying physiologically relevant carbamates. Linthwaite (2017) went on to use this method to screen the Arabidopsis leaf proteome, identifying carbamates on multiple proteins which were previously not known to interact with CO₂.

1.6 Carbamylated plant proteins

1.6.1 RuBisCo

The most abundant protein on earth, RuBisCo, is activated by carbamylation (Stec, 2012). This enzyme is found in almost all autotrophs and is essential for carbon fixation. It is responsible for combining CO₂ with RuBP to form two molecules of 3-phosphoglycerate (Figure 1-1), which is then used to create the molecules that are the building blocks of life (Andersson, 2008). In order to function, RuBisCo must be activated by carbamylation of a lysine residue within the active site. This carbamylated lysine is distinct from the binding site that of the substrate CO₂ (Lorimer, 1979). The carbamate is stabilised by the binding of Mg²⁺, which is essential for catalysis. This regulatory carbamate was initially identified using ¹³CO₂ NMR spectroscopy studies (O'Learly *et al.* 1979). However it was not possible to determine which lysine residue was carbamylated using this method, and the conditions required for these experiments were such that non-specific carbamate formation could occur. Xray crystallography was used to locate this carbamate to lysine 201 (Miziorko, 1979). The requirement for CO_2 and Mq^{2+} to activate this enzyme allows RuBisCo activity to be light regulated. In the dark, Mg²⁺ leaves the stroma and the pH declines, leading to a reduction in the proportion of RuBisCo that is activated (Andersson, 2008).

1.6.2 Urease

Urease is another common enzyme that is known to be carbamylated. This enzyme is important for nitrogen metabolism in plants and catalyses the hydrolysis of urea to form ammonia and carbamate (Pearson *et al.* 1998). This enzyme is carbamylated on a lysine residue in the active site, allowing the bridging of two nickel ions. This carbamate is vital for urease function and in the absence of CO_2 the enzyme is inactive (Yamaguchi and Hausinger, 1997).

1.6.3 Putative carbamates identified by Linthwaite (2017)

A novel method for trapping carbamates on proteins (described in 1.4) has lead to the identification of carbamates on a wide range of plant proteins following a screen of the *Arabidopsis* proteome (Linthwaite 2017). These proteins include a Lipid Transfer Protein, a peroxidase, Fructose bisphosphate aldolase 1 (FBA1), two chloroplast RNA editing factors and photosystem II subunit Q. The activity of some of these proteins has previously been linked to inorganic carbon, for example photosystem II is only active in the presence of a high concentration of dissolved CO_2 . However, many of these proteins were not previously known to have any interaction with CO_2 , and the affect that most of these observed carbamates have on protein function is unknown. Further work is required to identify the role of carbamylated lysine residues in the function of these proteins. The research discussed in this thesis investigates the effect of CO_2 on the function of two of these proteins.

1.7 Motivation for investigation

Carbamylation is an important mechanism for protein regulation which may be much more common than previously imagined. Carbamates are known to be vital for the function of two of the most abundant proteins on earth, RuBisCo in plants and haemoglobin in mammals (Stec, 2012; Vandegriff *et al.* 1991). Additionally, carbamates have now been identified on a wide range of proteins from *Arabidopsis* (Linthwaite, 2017). However, due to the labile nature of this post-translational modification, very little research has been undertaken to investigate the role of carbamates in protein function.

Many recently identified proteins which appear to form carbamates were not previously known to have any connection with CO₂ signalling. This project will investigate the role of these carbamates in the function of two such proteins: Fructose 1,6 bisphosphate aldolase 1 (FBA1) and Lipid transfer protein 1 (LTP1).

1.7.1 Project relevance

Although CO_2 is known to play a role in a wide range of biological processes, very little is known about the molecular mechanism involved. Atmospheric CO_2 is rising at an alarming rate and the subsequent effect on plant growth has not yet been fully elucidated. Although it is known that an increase in CO_2 leads to an increase in the rate of photosynthesis, meta-analyses of field studies undertaken in conditions of high CO_2 yield conflicting results about how much this affects overall plant growth (Kimbal, 2016; Long *et al.* 2006). Increased yield produced by conditions of elevated CO_2 has been shown to be accompanied by a decrease in the nutrient content of crop plants, posing a further threat to food security (Giri *et al.* 2016). Additionally, CO_2 is known to have other effects on plant cellular processes. For example, elevated CO_2 has

metabolism (Leakey *et al.* 2009; Sitt and Krapp, 1999). Gaining a better understanding of how CO_2 can affect plants at the molecular level is therefore of the utmost importance. This is necessary to improve predictions of how elevated atmospheric CO_2 may influence crop security.

Furthermore, in order to combat rising greenhouse gases, experts suggest we will need to develop efficient methods for carbon capture and storage (CCS) (Metz *et al.* 2005). Further investigation into the interaction of CO_2 and plant proteins could increase our understanding of how CO_2 regulates carbon fixation, perhaps allowing for development of more efficient CCS technologies.

Carbamylation is becoming increasingly identified as a method of regulating proteins in other organisms as well as plants. Recent evidence suggests that some mammalian connexins contain carbamylation motifs and may be involved in measurement of the partial pressure of CO_2 within the body (Meigh *et al.* 2013). Multiple bacterial enzymes have also been shown to require carbamate formation for proper function, including alanine racemase, which plays a vital role in synthesis of cell wall components (Morollo *et al.* 1999). Research in to the effect of CO_2 on cellular processes at the molecular level could also have clinical relevance, for example by increasing our knowledge of the mechanisms by which hypercapnia can affect the human body (Azzam *et al.* 2010). Increasing our knowledge of how CO_2 can affect protein function in plants may therefore improve our understanding of protein regulation across a wide variety of biological systems.

1.7.2 Aims and Hypotheses

We hypothesise that carbamates identified by Linthwaite (2017) on the *Arabidopsis* proteins FBA1 and LTP1 are functionally relevant. We therefore

22

also hypothesise that the activity of these proteins will be altered by changes in CO₂ concentration.

The main aim of this project was to investigate the effect of CO_2 on the known activity of these two proteins and determine whether these carbamates play a role in protein function. A broader aim of this project was to gain a better understanding of how increasing concentrations of CO_2 may affect plants at the molecular level.

Two main approaches will be implemented to achieve these goals. Firstly, the activity of the chosen proteins will be assessed in the presence and absence of CO₂ using appropriate activity assays. Secondly, mutant studies will be employed to further elucidate the effect of carbamylated lysine residues on the function of FBA1 and LTP1.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 Transforming cells

Plasmid DNA (1 μ L) was added to competent *Escherichia coli (E. coli)* cells (50 μ L, various strains) and then incubated on ice for 20 min. The cells were then heat shocked at 42 °C for 30 s and placed immediately back on ice. After 3 min, 1 mL LB broth was added to the cells and the solution was shaken for 1 h at 37 °C. 800 μ L of the bacterial culture was spread on to an agar plate containing appropriate selective antibiotics and 200 μ L on to another. Plates were incubated overnight at 37 °C.

2.2 Large scale expression of FBA1 protein

Rosetta PLysS cells were transformed with the plasmid *pet14b-FBA1*, *pet14B-FBA1-K293A* or *pet14B-FBA1-K293E*. LB broth (200 mL) containing ampicillin and chloramphenicol was inoculated with one plate colony of transformed cells and incubated at 30 °C with shaking overnight. 10 mL of overnight culture was added to each of 12 1 L LB preparations (also containing ampicillin and chloramphenicol). These cultures were incubated with shaking at 37 °C until the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.4. 1 mL betaine was added to each culture. Incubation continued until the OD₆₀₀ reached 0.6. Incubator temperature was then reduced to 17 °C for 1 h. 1 mL IPTG (20 mM) was added to each flask of culture to initiate protein expression and the cells were grown for a further 16 h at 17 °C. The cultures were harvested by centrifugation at 4000 g. The pellet resuspended in wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 100 mM Nacl, 1 mM EDTA) and centrifuged again.

2.3 Purification of FBA1 protein

Cells pellets were resuspended in binding buffer (50 mM Tris-Hcl, 100 mM Nacl, 10 mM imidazole). Protease inhibitor cocktail was added. Cells were lysed by sonication at 50 % power for 3 min. Cell lysate was centrifuged at 50,000 g for 30 min. Following centrifugation the supernatant was incubated on rollers at 4 °C with 50 % Ni²⁺ resin. The FBA1 recombinant protein contains a histag at the N-terminus, allowing binding to the Ni²⁺ resin. After 1 h of incubation the cell lysate was centrifuged at 700 g for 10 min and the supernatant discarded. Pellets containing the resin were resuspended in the binding buffer and transferred to a column with the flow through collected. The column was washed with binding buffer until no protein eluted. The sample was then eluted with buffer containing increasing concentrations of imidazole (from 50 mM to 250 mM) and each wash fraction collected and stored at -80 °C. The column fractions were then run on an SDS-PAGE gel and the concentration of protein present in each sample was determined from e₂₈₀ values.

2.4 SDS-PAGE gel

Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) gels were used to determine the molecular weight of proteins. Protein samples were mixed with loading buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 200 mM dithiothereitol, 4 % (w/v) SDS, 0.2 % (w/v) bromophenol blue, 20 % (v/v) glycerol) in a 4:1 ratio and incubated at 90 °C for 10 min to allow denaturation to occur. Protein samples and a protein ladder (PagerulerTMPlus pre-stained) were loaded on to the gel. 15-20% resolving gels were used depending on the expected molecular weight of the protein of interest. The gel was then run in running buffer (25 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 192 mM glycine, 0.1 % (w/v) SDS) for 1 h at 180 V. The gel was incubated with Generon Quick Coomassie with rocking for two hours to stain the protein.

2.5 FBA1 cleavage assay

All buffers were degassed and bubbled with nitrogen for 2 h before the reaction mixture was made up. 7 μ g of purified FBA1 protein (WT, K293A or K293E) was added to 40 mM TBE buffer (pH 8) containing 0.2 mM B-NADH and 10 units of the coupling enzymes GDH/TPI. The reaction mixture was incubated under a nitrogen atmosphere for 20 min at 4 °C. NaHCO₃ (for reaction with 3 mM inorganic carbon) or NaCl (for control reaction without inorganic carbon) dissolved in 200 mM Hepes (pH 8) was added to a final concentration of 3 mM. The substrate FBP (2 mM) was added and the reaction mixed by pipetting. Absorbance at 340 nm was measured every 30 s for 5 min. The observed decrease in absorbance over the course of 5 min was used to calculate the specific activity of the enzyme.

2.6 Native-PAGE gels

Native-PAGE gels were used to assess the molecular weight of protein in its native conformation. Samples of FBA1 WT and K293A protein were mixed with Native Sample buffer in a 2:1 ratio. Protein and a protein ladder (Native Mark) were loaded on to the native page gel and run for 1 h with Tris-Glycine buffer at 140 V. For gels with increased CO₂, NaHCO₃ was added to the running buffer to a final concentration of 1 mM. The gel was then stained to allow visualisation of the protein.

2.6.1 polyhistidine stain

Native-PAGE gels were stained with a polyhistidine stain. Before the stain could be applied, gels were set with 10 % acetic acid and 40 % ethanol for 1 h. They were then incubated over night in the dark with NTA-Atto 647N. The

gels were washed with water and imaged using a Fujifilm FLA-3000 scanner with 633 nm excitation and 675 nm emission wavelengths.

2.6.2 Coomassie stain

Native-PAGE gels were incubated with Generon Quick Coomassie stain for 2 h. They were then washed with water and allowed to de-stain for 2 h before imaging.

2.7 One step PCR mutagenesis

Forward and reverse mutagenic primers were designed including the required mutation at the target site. PCR mixture was made up with the components listed in Table 1 and PCR performed according to the conditions described in Table 2. 5 μ L of the PCR mixture was run on an agarose gel to confirm that amplification had occurred. 50 μ L of competent Mac1T1 cells were transformed with 5 μ L PCR product and grown over night at 37 °C on agar plates containing ampicillin. Colony PCR was then performed on seven of the colonies that grew on this plate to confirm the presence of the plasmid of interest.

Component	Amount
5X HF buffer	5 µL
DMSO	1 <i>µ</i> L
Forward primer	2 pmol
Reverse primer	2 pmol
2mM dNTPs	2.5 μL
Template DNA	1 ng
dH₂O	to total volume 25 μ L

Table 1. PCR reaction components

Table 2. PCR reaction conditions

Temperature °C	Time	
98	120 s	
18 cycles with the following settings:		
98	30 s	
57	30 s	
72	75 kb/s	
Final extension:		
72	10 m	

2.8 Colony PCR

PCR mixture was assembled as in Table 3. Half of a bacterial colony was removed from an agar plate, added to the PCR mixture and mixed well. PJET forward primer was used with the reverse mutagenic primer and PJET reverse primer was used with the forward mutagenic primer. 18 cycles of PCR were performed with the conditions described in Table 4. 5 μ L of PCR product was then run on an agarose gel to confirm the presence of the plasmid of interest. Colonies containing the plasmid were grown over night in 5 mL LB broth. The plasmid was purified by mini-prep and stored at -20 °C.

Table 3. Colon	y PCR mixture	components
----------------	---------------	------------

Component	Amount
5x buffer	5 μL
25mM Magnesium Chloride	1.5 μL
Forward primer (25 pmol/ μ L)	1 μL
Reverse primer (25 pmol/µL)	1 μL
2mM dNTPs	2.5 μL
Gotaq G2 flexi polymerase	0.3 μL
dH₂O	13.7 μL

Temperature °C	Time
95	30 s
55	30 s
72	1 min/kb

2.9 Agarose gel

1.5 g of agarose was added to 100 mL TAE buffer and microwaved for 1 min. 0.1 mg ethidium bromide was added and mixed with buffer. The gel was poured and allowed to cool. 25 μ L of samples containing DNA were added to wells in the cooled gel. The gel was run in TAE buffer for 1 h at 120 V. DNA was then visualised under UV transillumination.

2.10 Plasmid purification by mini-prep

A mini-prep spin kit (QIAGEN) was used for plasmid purification. Cells were grown over night in 5 mL LB containing appropriate selective antibiotics. The culture was centrifuged at 4000 g for 5 min. The supernatant was discarded and the cell pellet was resuspended in 250 μ L Resuspension buffer. The sample was transferred to a mirocentrifuge tube and 250 μ L Lysis buffer was added. The tube was inverted 4 times to mix. 350 μ L Neutralisation buffer was added and the sample mixed by inverting the tube 6 times. The tube was centrifuged at 14,000 g for 5 min and the supernatant transferred to a spin column. The spin column was centrifuged at 14,000 g for 1 min at 14,000 g.

The flow through was discarded and the column was centrifuged once more for 1 min to ensure residual solution was removed. The column was moved to a clean microcentrifuge tube and 50 μ L of dH₂O added. After incubation for 2 min the column was centrifuged for a further 2 min to collect the DNA.

2.11 Test expression of LTP1

BL21 and *Tuner-Rosetta E.coli* cells were transformed with *pet14b-LTP1* and grown overnight on plates containing 0.4 % (w/v) glucose and appropriate selective antibiotics. One colony of each cell type was transferred to 5 mL LB, again containing 0.4 % (w/v) glucose and antibiotics, and grown overnight with shaking at 37 °C. 250 mL of LB (containing 0.4 % (w/v) glucose and antibiotics) was inoculated with 3 mL overnight culture. Cells were then incubated at 37 °C with shaking until the cell density reached an OD₆₀₀ of 0.5. Protein expression was then induced with either 2 mM or 0.2 mM IPTG. The culture was grown for a further 3 h at 37 degrees C. 1 mL samples were taken before induction, after 1 h and after 3 h. These samples were centrifuged at 6000 g for 5 min and the supernatant discarded. The cells were resuspended in 100 μ L wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 7.4) and sonicated for 5 s at 25 % power. The samples were centrifuged once more at 6000 g and the supernatant and pellet were separated. Both the pellet and supernatant from all samples were run on a SDS-PAGE gel.

2.12 Large scale expression of LTP1

Tuner-Rosetta cells were transformed with *pet14B-LTP1* or *pet14B-LTP1*-*K65A*. LB broth (250 mL) containing 0.4 % (w/v) glucose and the antibiotics ampicillin and chloramphenicol was inoculated with one colony of transformed cells and grown over night at 37 °C with shaking. These cells were then used to inoculate 12 1L LB preparations containing the above antibiotics and 20 mM glucose. Cells were grown at 37 °C with shaking until they reached an OD_{600} of 0.7. Protein expression was induced with the addition of 0.2 mM IPTG. The cultures were grown for a further 3 hours at 37 °C. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4000 g. The pellets were resuspended in wash buffer (50 mM Tris, 100 mM NaCl, 0.1 mM EDTA, pH 7.5) and centrifuged once more at 4000 g to wash. Supernatant was discarded and the pellets were stored at -80 °C.

2.13 Refolding LTP1 protein from inclusion bodies

Cell pellets were resuspended in lysis buffer (PBS containing 1 % Triton X 100 and 350 μ g/mL Lysozyme, pH 7.3) and sonicated at 20 % power for 4 min. The cell lysate was then centrifuged at 20,000 g for 25 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended by sonication in PBS containing 1% Triton X 100 (v/v). Lysate was centrifuged again using the above conditions. This was repeated a further two times. In the final sonication step the pellet was resuspended in PBS without Triton X 100. After the final centrifugation, pellets were resuspended in PBS containing 6 M urea and incubated over night on rollers at 4 °C to resolubalise the protein. The lysate was then diluted 1:10 with PBS to allow refolding of the protein.

2.14 Purification LTP1

Refolded protein in PBS was centrifuged at 20,000 g for 25 min. Following centrifugation the supernatant was incubated on rollers with 50 % Ni²⁺ resin for 2 h. This was then centrifuged at 700 g for 10 min and the supernatant discarded. The resin was resuspended in binding buffer (50 mM Tris, 100 mM Nacl, 10 mM imidazole) and transferred to a column. The column was washed with binding buffer until no protein eluted. The sample was then eluted with buffer containing increasing concentrations of imidazole (from 50 mM to 1 M)

21

and each wash fraction collected. The column fractions were then run on a 20 % SDS-PAGE gel.

2.15 LTP1 TNS binding assay

Measurement buffer was prepared (175 mM mannitol, 0.5 mM K₂SO₄, 0.5 mM CaCl₂, 5 mM MES at pH 7). TNS dissolved in DMSO was added to the measurement buffer to a final concentration of 10 μ M and mixed by shaking for 1 min. 4 μ M LTP1 protein (WT or K65A) was added to the mixture and mixed by pipetting. The sample was transferred to a 96 well plate and florescence was measured (excitation wavelength 320 nm, emission wavelength 437 nm). This was compared to a control sample containing no protein. This assay was performed both on the bench at atmospheric CO₂ concentration and in the absence of CO₂ in a nitrogen atmosphere cabinet and the results were compared.

2.16 LTP1 TNS binding dose response curve

An assay was performed as above with varying concentrations of TNS from 0.625 μ M to 160 μ M. Results were plotted on a curve and the K_d of LTP1 calculated.

2.17 LTP1 lipid binding assay

4 μ M WT LTP1 was added to measurement buffer containing 10 μ M TNS. Biological lipid (Oleoyl coA, phosphatidylcholine or phosphatidylethanolamine) was added to a final concentration of 18 μ M and the sample was shaken for 1 min to mix. This assay was adapted from Bogdanov *et al.* 2016, and concentrations of substrates used were the same as in this paper. The fluorescence of the sample (excitation wavelength 320 nm, emission wavelength 437 nm) was compared with the fluorescence of a sample with no added lipid and the decrease in florescence calculated. A greater decrease in florescence indicated a greater decrease in TNS binding to LTP1 and thus greater binding of the biological lipid to the protein. Biological lipids used in this assay were of bovine origin and are all commercially available from Sigma Aldrich.

2.18 Carbamate trapping on FBA1

FBA1 protein (WT) was dialysed overnight in to 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) and then concentrated to 0.5 mg/mL. 350 mg of the reagent TEO was measured out. A third of this was dissolved in 0.33 mL phosphate buffer (50 mM, pH 7.4) and added to the protein. Once the pH of the mixture stabilised, the remaining two thirds of the reagent were added one by one in the same way. The reaction was incubated at room temperature with stirring for 30 min. A pH stat was used to slowly add 1 M NaOH to the mixture during the course of the reaction ensure a stable pH of 7.4 was maintained. Once the reaction was complete the protein sample was dialysed over night in to dH₂O. An aliquot of this sample was digested using trypsin and analysed using mass spectrometry.

2.19 Protein Digestion

Protein was digested using the FASP protein digestion kit (Expedeon) and all materials were provided with this kit. 30 μ L of trapped protein sample and 200 μ L of Urea Sample Solution were added to the spin filter provided and centrifuged at 14,000 g for 15 min. 200 μ L of Urea Sample Solution was added and the sample centrifuged again. 10 μ L of 10X lodoacetamide Solution and 90 μ L of Urea Sample solution were added to the spin filter and mixed by shaking for 1 min. The spin filter was then incubated in the dark for

くく

20 min before centrifugation for 10 min. 100 μ L of Urea Sample Solution was added and the spin filter centrifuged for 15 min. This step was repeated a further two times. 100 μ L of Ammonium Bicarbonate Solution (50 mM) was added and the sample centrifuged for 10 min. This step was also repeated twice. 75 μ L Digestion Solution (4 μ g trypsin in 75 μ L of Ammonium Bicarbonate Solution) was added to the sample and mixed by shaking for 1 min. The top of the spin filter was wrapped in parafilm to prevent evaporation and the sample was incubated over night at 37 °C. The spin filter was then transferred to a new collection tube. 40 μ L Ammonium Bicarbonate Solution was added and the spin filter was centrifuged for 10 min. This step was repeated to a new collection tube. 40 μ L Ammonium Bicarbonate Solution was added and the spin filter was centrifuged for 10 min. This step was repeated once more. 50 μ L Sodium Chloride Solution (0.5 M) was added and the sample centrifuged for 10 min. The filtrate contained the digested protein.

2.20 ESI-MS

Protein samples were prepared in an MS compatible ABC buffer and run with a 2 h gradient of acetonitrile from 2-80 % containing 1 % formic acid.

2.21 Mass-spectrometry data analysis

Data from ESI-MS was analysed using the GPM database X!Tandem. The Arabidopsis peptides present in the sample data were searched for the transfer of an ethyl group (MW 28.0313) and a trapped carbamate on a lysine residue (MW 72.0211).
Chapter 3: FBA1

3.1 Overview

Fructose 1,6 bisphosphate aldolases (FBAs) are ubiquitous plant enzymes involved in multiple metabolic processes. FBAs catalyse the reversible cleavage of fructose 1,6 bisphosphate (FBP) to form dehydroxyacetonephosphate (DHAP) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate (G3P). This cleavage reaction takes place in the cytoplasm as part of both glycolysis and glucogenesis (Lu et al. 2012). In the stroma of chloroplasts, FBA acts as part of the Calvin cycle catalysing the condensation of both FBP and sedoheptulose-1,7-bisphostphate (SuBP) (Fleshner et al. 1999). These enzymes are also thought to play a role in sugar signaling, the response to abiotic stresses such as drought and high salinity, and processes in plant development (Lu et al. 2012; Geng-Yin et al. 2017). FBAs can be divided in to two classes based on their catalytic mechanism. Class I aldolases act as tetramers and require an active site lysine which is essential for catalysis and stabilizes a reaction intermediate, whereas class II aldolases form dimers and require the presence of a metal ion for catalytic activity (Perham, 1990). The Arabidopsis genome contains eight FBA genes. FBA1 is a class I aldolase expressed in the shoots of Arabidopsis. The amino acid sequence for this enzyme contains a plastid location signal peptide indicating that it is likely to function within the chloroplast. The expression of this enzyme has been shown to be affected by various abiotic stresses indicating a potential role for FBA1 in stress responses (Lu et al. 2012).

A previous screen of the *Arabidopsis* proteome identified a carbamate on the lysine residue at position 293 in FBA1 (Linthwaite, 2017). Following ESI mass spectrometry this carbamate was confidently located using two different data analysis software. Its presence was confirmed using purified and active FBA1 protein in the presence of 1 mM inorganic carbon. This results in approximately the same CO₂ concentration as is found in *Arabidopsis* cells at physiologically relevant pH. Preliminary experiments indicated that this

25

carbamate may have an effect on the activity of this enzyme (Linthwaite, 2017).

The formation of a carbamate on FBA1 is of particular interest, not only because of the biological significance of this enzyme, but also because this enzyme plays a role in the same process as RuBisCo. RuBisCo is known to require activation by carbamylation to perform its role in the Calvin cycle (Stec, 2012). The presence of a carbamate on another Calvin cycle enzyme could potentially indicate that carbamylation is a more common method of regulating the function of photosynthetic enzymes than previously thought. Additionally, from a more practical point of view, FBA1 is a good choice of carbamylated protein for further investigation as it has previously been expressed and purified in a soluble active form and its activity is relatively straightforward to assay (Linthwaite, 2017).

This chapter will discuss the expression and purification of recombinant FBA1, assaying the activity of this protein and investigation of its subunit conformation.

3.2 Expression of FBA1

The amino acid sequence for WT FBA1 is shown below with the carbamylated lysine residue and plastid-targeting signal highlighted (Figure 3-1). A truncated version of this protein with the plastid-targeting signal removed has increased solubility and was therefore used for all experiments (Linthwaite, 2017).

[MASSTATMLKASPVKSDWVKGQSLLLRQPSSVSAIRSHV APSALTVRA]ASAYADELVKTAKTIASPGHGIMAMDESNAT CGKRLASIGLENTEANRQAYRTLLVSAPGLGQYISGAILFE ETLYQSTTDGKKMVDVLVEQNIVPGIKVDKGLVPLVGSYD ESWCQGLDGLASRTAAYYQQGARFAKWRTVVSIPNGPS ALAVKEAAWGLARYAAISQDSGLVPIVEPEIMLDGEHGIDR TYDVAEKVWAEVFFYLAQNNVMFEGILLKPSMVTPGAEAT DRATPEQVASYTLKLLRNRIPPAVPGIMFLSGGQSELEATL NLNAMNQAPNPWHVSFSYARALQNTCLKTW

Figure 3-1: FBA1 protein sequence. The plastid targeting sequence is highlighted in grey and the site of carbamate formation in red.

FBA1-WT was expressed and purified according to the protocol developed by Linthwaite (2017) (2.1-2.3). The recombinant protein contains a polyhistidine tag allowing purification by nickel affinity chromatography. Wash fractions produced by the purification process were run on an SDS-PAGE gel to confirm the presence of FBA1 (Figure 3-2). This protein can be seen in all fractions at its predicted MW of 43 kDa. From analysis of the bands on the gel it was clear that the greatest concentration of FBA1 protein was present in the fraction eluted with 100 mM imidazole. This fraction was not very pure and contained a considerable amount of contaminant. The fraction eluted with 250 mM imidazole appeared to contain pure FBA1, however this was present only at a low concentration.



Figure 3-2: SDS-PAGE gel of wash fractions collected from FBA1-WT purification. Fraction A was eluted with a buffer containing 50 mM imidazole, B with 100 mM, C with 150 mM, D with 200 mM and E with 250 mM. FBA1 can be seen at the predicted MW of 43 kDa.

A mutant enzyme, in which the carbamylated lysine residue was mutated to an alanine (FBA1-K293A), was expressed and purified simultaneously according to the same protocol. An alanine residue was chosen to replace the lysine as this amino acid is inert, so should not have unwanted effects on protein function.

3.3 FBA1 Cleavage activity assay

It was hypothesised that the presence of a carbamate on lysine 293 of FBA1-WT would affect the specific activity of this enzyme. Therefore it was expected that the specific activity of the aldolase would be higher in the presence than in the absence of CO_2 . Additionally, it was hypothesised that the specific

activity of the mutant protein FBA1-K293A remain constant with changing CO₂ concentration and would be comparable with that of FBA1-WT in the absence of CO₂.

In order to test these hypotheses, an enzyme assay was developed to allow the cleavage activity of FBA1 to be measured.

3.3.1 Mechanism

The cleavage reaction catalysed by FBA1 (Figure 3-3) occurs as part of glycolysis and glucogenesis in all organisms (Lu *et al.* 2012). The substrate FBP interacts with catalytically important lysine and cysteine residues in the active site of the enzyme leading to the release of G3P. A histidine residue then interacts with the remaining chain to form DHAP.



Figure 3-3: FBA1 cleavage reaction

In order to assay the cleavage activity of FBA1 this reaction was coupled to oxidation of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) to form NAD⁺ using the coupling enzymes α -glycerophosphate dehydrogenase (GDH) and triosephosphate isomerase (TPI) (Figure 3-4). NADH absorbs light at 340 nm whereas NAD⁺ does not (Dawson, 1985). Therefore a decrease in absorbance at 340 nm can be measured and used to calculate the rate of the cleavage reaction.



Figure 3-4: Cleavage reaction coupled to oxidation of NADH

3.3.2 Testing activity of purified protein wash fractions

In order to confirm that the purified FBA1 protein produced in 3.2 was active, the above cleavage assay was used to determine the activity of the FBA1 enzyme present in each of the wash fractions produced during purification. WT or K293A protein from each of the wash fractions was mixed with appropriate buffers and the substrate FBP was added to start the reaction. A control sample containing the same concentrations of buffer and substrate but no aldolase was also prepared for comparison. The absorbance of the reaction mixture was read every 30 s for 20 min. The results of these experiments are shown in Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5: Activity assay of FBA1-WT (a) and FBA1-K293A (b) wash fractions produced by purification compared with a control sample containing no aldolase protein

Figure 3-5 demonstrates the change in the absorbance of each sample over the course of the cleavage reaction. A greater decrease in absorbance indicates higher cleavage activity of the enzyme. Some aldolase activity was observed in all fractions for both the mutant and the WT enzyme when compared with the control which contained no aldolase protein. This indicated that the purified protein was active and in the correct conformation. For the WT protein, the highest cleavage activity was observed in the wash fraction eluted with 50 mM imidazole, closely followed by 100 mM imidazole (figure 3-5). For the K293A mutant protein, the fraction eluted with 100 mM imidazole showed the highest activity (figure 3-6). The purest fraction (eluted with 250 mM imidazole) showed almost negligible activity for both proteins. Due to the high cleavage activity observed in this fraction for both FBA1-WT and FBA1-K293A, the 100 mM fraction was chosen for future cleavage assays.

3.3.3 Assaying activity in the presence and absence of CO₂

In order to investigate the effect of carbamate formation on the cleavage activity of FBA1, both the WT and K293A proteins were assayed in the presence and absence of CO_2 (2.5). This was achieved by the removal of CO_2 from the reaction mixture followed by the addition of either 3 mM inorganic carbon in the form of NaHCO₃ or 3 mM NaCl as a control. Complete removal of CO_2 from the system presented a challenge to this investigation. All buffers were degassed and bubbled with nitrogen for 1 h prior to assembly of the reaction mixture. The reaction mixture, including the FBA1 protein, was incubated within a dessicator containing nitrogen gas for 30 min before the addition of the substrate to ensure any CO_2 already bound to the protein dissociated. The reaction mixture was kept at 4 °C throughout this process to ensure the enzyme remained active. NaHCO₃ was added to reintroduce CO_2 to the system. This was added immediately before the reaction was started in order to reduce CO_2 loss by degassing. For control experiments in the absence of inorganic carbon, 3 mM NaCl was added instead. The assay was

started with the addition of 40 μ M of the substrate FBP. This low concentration was chosen as it allows the effect of CO₂ concentration on the K_m of the enzyme to be investigated (Linthwaite, 2017).

The reduction in absorbance of the reaction mixture was measured over the course of 5 min. This was compared to a standard curve of NADH absorbance to allow calculation of the amount of NAD⁺ (mol) produced during the course of the reaction. The amount of product (mol) formed during the cleavage reaction is known to be equal to half of the amount of NAD⁺ produced. The amount of product formed was then used to calculate the specific activity (the amount of product produced per min per mg total protein) of each enzyme under the conditions tested. The mean specific activities are shown in figure 3-6 below.



Figure 3-6: Specific activity of WT and K293A FBA1 in the presence and absence of CO_2 . Mean specific activities are presented here (n = 8) and error bars represent the standard error.

No significant difference in activity was observed with the addition of CO_2 for either the WT or the K293A mutant enzyme. However, the mutant FBA1 had reduced activity compared to the WT. A Shapiro-Wilk normality test indicated that not all data sets were normally distributed. A log(y) = y transformation was applied to all data. Following this transformation, all data was found to be normally distributed. A one-way ANOVA confirmed that there is no significant difference in the activity of either the WT or K293A protein with the addition or removal of CO_2 (P > 0.005). However, the difference in specific activity between the WT and K293A enzyme is statistically significant (P < 0.005).

One limitation of this experiment was the difficulty in ensuring all CO_2 was successfully removed from the experimental system. It is therefore possible that some CO_2 was still present in the samples prepared in the absence of inorganic carbon. There is also the potential that even if CO_2 was successfully removed from the reaction mixture, the carbamate may be particularly stable on this residue and thus not effectively removed by incubation of the protein under a nitrogen atmosphere. Later, mass spectrometry analysis of this residue indicated that this is not the case and this carbamate is not stable at atmospheric CO_2 conditions (3.6).

An additional limitation of this investigation was the presence of protein contaminants in the samples assayed. Because of this it is possible that there was a difference in the concentration of FBA1-WT and FBA1-K293A present in the reaction mixture. Both proteins were expressed and purified simultaneously under the same conditions to reduce the chances of this. Impurities in the samples assayed may also interfere with carbamate formation.

The results of this investigation indicate that CO₂ concentration does not affect the cleavage activity of FBA1. Therefore the carbamate observed on lysine 293 may not play a role in this aspect of protein function. However, the mutant protein lacking this lysine residue has lower activity than the WT. This

ΔЛ

could indicate that although the carbamate is not required for the cleavage function of this protein, the lysine residue on which it is found may be important for enzyme activity. However, it is possible that the carbamate is particularly stable and is not removed by incubation of the protein in a CO₂-free atmosphere. If this is the case then the observed difference in specific activity between the WT and mutant enzyme could indeed be due to the presence of this carbamate.

3.4 Structure

In order to account for the observed difference in activity between the WT and K293A mutant enzymes, the structure of FBA1 must be considered. As a class I FBA, FBA1 is expected to act as a tetramer made up of four identical polypeptide chains (Perham, 1990). The subunits of this tetramer are thought to be joined at two different types of subunit interface (Geng-Yin *et al.* 2017). Our lysine of interest, K293, is found at one of these interfaces between subunits (Figure 3-7). It is solvent exposed and is conserved in FBA proteins across multiple plant species. It was hypothesised that this residue is required for quaternary structure formation.



Figure 3-7: Quaternary structure of FBA1 with K293 shown at the border between subunits (PBD ID: 4D2J)

3.4.1 Native-PAGE gels

Native-PAGE gels were used to investigate the effect of lysine 293 on the quaternary structure of FBA1 the protein (2.6). These gels separate active protein by mass, allowing the subunit composition of protein in its native state to be observed. The conformation of a protein may affect the rate at which it travels through the gel or even prevent the protein running through the gel at all, meaning direct measurement of protein molecular weight is not possible. However despite this potential limitation it is possible to gain a good approximation of the subunit composition of many active proteins (Wittig *et al.* 2006).

Active FBA1 protein was mixed with loading buffer before being loaded on to a native page gel. The gel was then run at 140 V to prevent overheating causing denaturation of the protein. The purest wash fraction of protein (eluted with 250 mM imidazole) was used for these experiments to prevent contaminants from confusing the analysis. This fraction contained considerably less impurities than the fraction used for the activity assays detailed above.

Two different types of gel stain were tested for visualisation of the protein. First a polyhistidine-tag stain was used. As this only binds to proteins with a polyhistidine-tag, it would be expected that only the FBA1 protein would be visible using this stain. Although FBA1 was observed in all its subunit conformations using this staining technique, images produced were of poor resolution due to limitations of the machine used for imaging. As this stain fluoresces and is not visible with the naked eye, it was not possible to use another technique to image gels stained in this manner. As the protein in this sample contains very little contaminant, Generon Quick Coomassie stain was also used to stain gels. Although this stain is not specific to purified FBA1, this technique produced higher resolution images in which the protein of interest was clearly visible. Gels stained with Coomassie were therefore used for quantification and analysis of protein bands. An image of one such gel can be seen in Figure 3-8.

The effect of CO_2 concentration on tetramer formation was also investigated. For practical reasons it was not possible to perform this experiment in the absence of CO_2 . Instead, the CO_2 concentration of the system was increased by the addition of 10 mM NaHCO₃ to the gel running buffer.



Figure 3-8: Native-PAGE gel stained with Instant Blue. The tetramer, dimer and monomer forms of WT and K293A FBA1 can be seen.

Figure 3-8 shows a native-PAGE gel run at atmospheric CO_2 concentration and stained with Quick Coomassie. Both the FBA1-WT and FBA1-K293A proteins can be seen in tetrameric, dimeric and monomeric formation. The proportion of WT protein found as a tetramer appears to be higher than for the mutant, with most of the FBA1-K293A protein present as a dimer.

The protein bands observed on the gel were analysed using Image J and the relative amount of protein present in each band quantified. Only a minimal amount of either the WT or mutant protein was found as a monomer. The amount of tetramer relative to the amount of dimer present in each sample was calculated and the results can be seen in figure 3-9.



Figure 3-9: Results of Native page gel experiments. Mean values (n = 7) are shown here and error bars represent the standard error.

These results confirm the initial observation that a higher proportion of the WT protein is present as a tetramer than the K293A mutant protein. A similar amount of tetramer and dimer are found in the WT sample. In contrast, most of the K293A mutant protein observed was in the dimer formation, with almost twice as much dimer than tetramer present in the sample. The addition of 10 mM inorganic carbon to the experiment did not significantly affect the ratio of tetramer to dimer. A Shapiro-Wilke normality test indicated that all data sets from these experiments were normally distributed. A one-way ANOVA was used to compare mean values. This analysis confirmed that the difference between the value for tetramer/dimer for the WT and K293A protein was statistically significant (P < 0.005), and that there is no statistically significant difference for either protein with the addition of 10 mM inorganic carbon (P > 0.005).

Overall, the results of this investigation indicate that lysine 293 has an important role in tetramer formation. As two different types of interface are present within the FBA1 tetramer, the dimer is still able to form normally in the K293A mutant, whereas tetramer formation is impaired. Increasing the concentration of inorganic carbon from atmospheric to 10 mM did not affect the proportion of protein present as a tetramer, indicating that it may not be the carbamate on lysine 293 which is responsible for this effect on quaternary structure. However, it is not possible to conclude from these results that CO₂ concentration does not affect tetramer formation, as a significant limitation of this experiment was that it was not possible to remove atmospheric CO₂ from the system. If the carbamate is already stable on this residue at atmospheric concentrations of CO₂ then this carbamate would be present on the WT protein for all experiments and no difference in tetramer formation could be expected with the addition of more inorganic carbon. Therefore it is possible that this carbamate is responsible for the observed difference in tetramer formation between the WT and K293A mutant.

As FBA1 is thought to act as a tetramer within plant cells it is likely that the observed reduction in tetramer formation for K293A may be responsible for the reduced cleavage activity displayed by this mutant enzyme.

3.5 K293E

The amino acid glutamate shares properties with those of a carbamylated lysine and it has previously been demonstrated that this residue is able to perform the function of a carbamylated lysine residue under certain circumstances (Meigh *et al.* 2013). The replacement of a carbamylated lysine residue with glutamate may therefore lead to creation of a protein in which the effect of the carbamate on protein function is constitutively present. Such a mutant would be invaluable for further investigation of the effect of carbamates on protein function.

In order to mimic the presence of a stable carbamate modification on FBA1, a mutant was therefore made in which lysine 293 was mutated to a glutamate (FBA1-K293E). It was hypothesised that FBA1-K293E would have the same specific activity as the WT enzyme with the carbamate modification present.

3.5.1 PCR mutagenesis

The mutant K293E was made by one step PCR mutagenesis using the sense oligo: GTTGCGAGCTACACCCTGGAGCTGCGCGCGCGCAACCGTATC and the antisense oligo: GATACGGTTACGCAGCAGCAGCTCCAGGGTGTAGCTCGCAACPCR as primers to amplify the FBA1-WT plasmid, incorporating the K293E point mutation (2.7). The WT template DNA plasmid was then digested with the restriction enzyme Dpn1. This enzyme is only able to digest methylated template DNA and not the newly made mutant plasmid (Liu and Naismith, 2008). The presence of the point mutation at position 293 was confirmed by DNA sequencing.

3.5.2 Expression

The mutant plasmid was transformed in to competent *Rosetta PLysS* cells. FBA1-K293E was the expressed and purified according to the same protocol used to make the WT enzyme (2.1-2.3). FBA1-WT was expressed and purified simultaneously to ensure comparable conditions during this process. Wash fractions from purification were run on SDS-PAGE gels (Figure 3-10). Wash fractions from purification were tested for cleavage activity and once again the fraction eluted with 100 mM imidazole showed the highest activity.





Figure 3-10: SDS-PAGE gel showing wash fractions from purification of FBA1-K293E (a) and FBA1-WT (b). Fraction A was eluted with a buffer containing 50 mM imidazole, B with 100 mM, C with 150 mM, D with 200 mM and E with 250 mM. FBA1 can be seen at the predicted MW of 43 kDa

Analysis of the SDS-PAGE gel images indicate that wash fractions contained a higher level of contaminant compared with FBA1 protein produced in earlier purifications.

3.5.3 Cleavage assays

It was hypothesised that FBA1-K293E would have the same specific activity as FBA1-WT in the presence of CO_2 . In order to test this hypothesis, cleavage assays in the absence of CO_2 with the addition of 3 mM NaHCO₃ or NaCl were performed as above for both the WT and K293E proteins (2.5). The specific activities of the WT and mutant enzymes were calculated and are shown in figure 3-11.



Figure 3-11: Specific activity of WT and K293E FBA1 in the absence of CO_2 and with the addition of 3 mM inorganic carbon. Mean values are shown here (n = 8) and error bars represent the standard error.

As in previous experiments, no significant difference in activity was observed for either enzyme with the addition of 3 mM inorganic carbon. However, the K293E mutant consistently showed reduced activity compared with the WT. These results were confirmed with statistical analysis. All data was found to be normally distributed using a Shapiro-Wilk normality test. A one-way ANOVA verified that there is no significant difference between the specific activity of the enzyme with and without CO₂ for either the WT or the mutant (P > 0.005). The difference in activity between the WT and K293E is statistically significant (P < 0.005).

The specific activity of the WT FBA1 calculated here is considerably lower than in earlier experiments. This may be due to less efficient expression of the aldolase. The protein samples produced following purification contained a high proportion of contaminants compared with in earlier assays. This could possibly be due to circumstantial differences in the purification process. However, since the WT and K293E protein used in these assays were expressed and purified simultaneously, assay data produced using these proteins is still comparable.

These results indicate that FBA1-K293E does not have the same activity as the WT protein with lysine 293 carbamylated. Instead, the K293E mutant has significantly lower activity than the WT under both CO₂ concentration conditions tested. There are potentially three main reasons why this result may have been observed. Firstly, it is possible that due to the specific structure of this protein, the glutamate residue at position 293 of FBA1-K293E is not able to successfully mimic the properties of a carbamylated lysine residue within this particular protein environment. Secondly, a major limitation of this investigation is the difficulty in producing pure active aldolase protein. Due to the high level of protein contaminant present in each sample it is not possible to verify whether the concentration of WT and mutant FBA1 added to assays was the same. This difference in activity could be due to a difference in concentration of active enzyme. Finally, it could be that the presence of the

54

lysine residue of interest itself rather than the carbamate modification is important for the activity of the protein. This lysine could contribute to protein function either by promoting tetramer formation or by another unknown mechanism. If this were the case, replacing it with another residue would decrease the activity of the protein as is observed here.

Taken together, the results of these investigations suggest that either the K293E mutation may not be able to accurately mimic the carbamylated lysine residue, or this lysine residue itself rather than the carbamate modification may be important for enzyme activity. This mutant protein is therefore not effective for investigating the effect of carbamate formation on the function of FBA1. It would be interesting to analyse the subunit composition of FBA1-K293E to determine whether this mutant is present as a tetramer. However, due to time constraints this was not investigated in this project.

3.6 Trapping FBA1 at atmospheric CO2

Earlier investigations indicated that the cleavage activity of FBA1 is not affected by the removal of CO_2 from the experimental system. It was therefore hypothesized that the carbamate previously observed on lysine 293 may be stable on the protein even in the absence of atmospheric CO_2 .

Linthwaite (2017) effectively demonstrated that a carbamate is able to form on FBA1 on this at a CO₂ concentration of 73.5 μ M. This is approximately the concentration of CO₂ found within plant cells and is thus physiologically relevant (Portis *et al.* 1986). However, as carbamate formation was not investigated with any lower concentrations of CO₂, it is possible that this carbamate may be extremely stable on this lysine residue and not easily removed. If this is the case it could explain why no change in FBA1 activity was observed with the addition or removal of CO₂ in earlier experiments.

Additionally, limitations with the equipment may have prevented complete removal of CO_2 from the system during cleavage assays. It was therefore important to determine whether this carbamate is found on FBA1 at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. In order to test this a trapping experiment was performed as described by Linthwaite (2017), however without the addition of any inorganic carbon.

FBA1 WT protein was concentrated to 1 mg/mL by spin filtration. The trapping reagent TEO reacts quickly with amines, therefore the protein was dialysed in to phosphate buffer which does not contain any amines before the trapping reaction was performed. The reagent was added to the protein under atmospheric CO₂ conditions and a stable pH of 7.4 was maintained throughout the reaction using a pH stat. After the reaction was complete, precipitated protein was visible in the sample. TEO causes the addition of ethyl groups to many residues within the protein leading to precipitation (Linthwaite, 2017). This can therefore be used as an indication of whether the reaction has been successful. Following trapping, the protein was dialysed in to water and digested with trypsin. ESI-MS was performed and the resultant data analysed using the database GPM-X!Tandem.



Figure 3-12: Mass spectrometry data generated using GPM X!Tandem showing the FBA1 peptide containing lysine 293

The peptide containing lysine 293 was identified in this data (Figure 3-12). The peptide was ethylated, indicating a successful reaction with the reagent TEO. However, no carbamate was found on lysine 293. In earlier work by Linthwaite (2017), the peptide was not cleaved directly following lysine 293 as the carbamate prevented protein cleavage at this site. In the data presented here there is no missed cleavage site as lysine 293 is found at the end of the peptide, indicating that the carbamate is not present. Due to the low quality of this data few b ions are present. However this peptide has a convincing confidence score of -3.2 indicating that it is likely to have been correctly identified.

The main limitation with this experiment is that although this peptide was found without the carbamate modification, it is still possible that other peptides containing a carbamylated lysine 293 were present in the sample but were not detected. Therefore, although this data confirms that the carbamate on this residue is not completely stable under these CO_2 conditions, it cannot be inferred that this carbamate does not form at all. Additionally, there was not time to perform the trapping experiment in the presence of additional CO_2 , so the presence of the carbamate identified in this manner by Linthwaite *et al.* 2017 could not be confirmed. Moreover, this trapping experiment was not performed on full-length FBA1 due to the difficulties in expressing and purifying this protein (Linthwaite *et al.* 2017).

The absence of carbamate on lysine 293 under these conditions indicates that this carbamate is not stable at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. It is therefore likely that the carbamate was successfully removed by incubation under a nitrogen atmosphere in cleavage experiments described earlier, and this carbamate may not have been present in the protein run on native page gels without the addition inorganic carbon.

3.7 Discussion and conclusions

FBA1 was previously shown to form a carbamate on lysine 293 at physiologically relevant CO_2 concentrations (Linthwaite, 2017). As another Calvin cycle enzyme, RuBisCo, is known to be activated by carbamylation (Stec, 2012), it was hypothesised that the carbamate on present FBA1 may have a role in regulating the catalytic function of this protein. However, the results of the experiments described in this chapter suggest that the concentration of CO_2 does not affect the cleavage activity of this enzyme. When the cleavage activity of FBA1-WT was assayed in the absence of CO_2 and with the addition of at 3 mM inorganic carbon, no significant difference in specific activity was observed. Similarly, analysis of subunit conformation

58

using native page gels indicated that increasing the concentration of CO_2 does not increase the amount of FBA1 found as an active tetramer. An experiment to trap the carbamate modification on this protein suggested that the carbamate is not stable under atmospheric CO_2 conditions. It is therefore likely that this carbamate was not present in samples in the absence of additional CO_2 in earlier experiments.

Somewhat surprisingly, although the presence and absence of the carbamate on lysine 293 did not appear to alter protein function, mutating this residue was shown to cause a significant reduction in aldolase activity. Replacing this residue with either an alanine (to mimic this lysine residue without a carbamate) or a glutamate (to mimic the lysine with an attached carbamate) resulted in a significant reduction in cleavage activity compared with the WT enzyme. Additionally, FBA1-K293A appears to be deficient in tetramer formation, which may be responsible for this observed reduction in specific activity. Therefore this lysine residue appears to be important for quaternary structure formation and efficient cleavage activity. However, the results of the above experiments suggest that the carbamate identified on this residue may not be required for these functions.

Although the investigations described in this chapter were unable to identify a function for the carbamate modification on FBA1, this carbamate may still be functionally relevant. Sequence comparison reveals that the lysine residue found at position 293 of FBA1 is conserved across FBA proteins in multiple plant species. Linthwaite (2017) also identified a carbamate on the corresponding lysine residue of *Arabidopsis* FBA2. The conserved nature of this carbamylated lysine residue suggests that it may be required for some aspect of protein function. FBAs are also known to catalyse the condensation of DHAP and G3P to form FPB (Fleshner *et al.* 1999) and it is therefore still possible that this carbamate might play a role in this reaction. Additionally, within the cellular environment this carbamate may affect the interaction of FBA1 with other molecules such as those involved in regulation of this

۲Q

enzyme. Investigation in to the effect of CO_2 on the condensation activity of FBA1 as well as its interaction with other molecules may further elucidate the function of the carbamate modification observed on this protein.

Chapter 4: Lipid Transfer Protein 1

4.1 Overview

Non-specific lipid transfer proteins (LTPs) are small cationic proteins found in all higher plants and are characterised by their ability to bind and transport lipids (Bogdanove et al. 2016). They can be subdivided in to two large protein families: LTP1s which have a molecular weight of ~9 kDa and LTP2s are slightly smaller with a molecular weight of ~7 kDa (Carvalo and Gomes, 2008). Many plant species possess a large number of LTP isoforms and these have been shown to have diversity of structure and lipid binding affinity (Guerbette et al. 1999). These proteins all contain eight conserved cysteine residues, which form four disulphide bridges necessary for protein function. They contain a hydrophobic internal lipid-binding cavity which has flexible volume, allowing non-specific binding of many different lipids (Carvalo and Gomes, 2008). LTPs were first identified for their ability to transfer lipids between membranes in vitro in a non-specific manner. Because of this they were initially predicted to play a role in intracellular lipid trafficking (Kader, 1997). However, these proteins contain an N-terminal signal peptide sequence targeting them for secretion and thus are unlikely to be found within the cell (Carvalo and Gomes, 2007). Additionally, immunolocalisation experiments suggest that LTPs are located at the cell wall (Thoma et al. 1993). Therefore despite their ability to transport lipids between membranes, it is unlikely that LTPs play a role in lipid trafficking within the cell.

The actual function of LTPs has not been fully elucidated, with proposed functions including roles in somatic embryogenesis, cuticle deposition,

հበ

defence against pathogens and response to abiotic stresses (Salcedo *et al.* 2007). LTPs have been shown to bind specifically to elicitin receptors in the plasma membrane (Buhot *et al.* 2001). These receptors detect elicitins released by phytopathogens and initiate a defensive response to infection. When bound to jasmonic acid, a tobacco LTP was shown to have a significantly increased interaction with elicitin receptors compared with LTP alone, and treatment of plants with LTP-jasmonic acid complex increased resistance to phytopathogen infection (Buhot *et al.* 2004). This provides evidence for a role for LTPs in cell signalling and defence against pathogens. Additionally, expression of different LTPs is differentially enhanced by exposure to pathogens, as well as by abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity and cold (Jung *et al.* 2003). The large amount of duplication and diversification seen within the LTP gene family is also characteristic of proteins involved in defence mechanisms (Bogdanove *et al.* 2016).

The *Arabidopsis* LTP family contains at least 15 genes (Arondel *et al.* 2000). One of these, LTP1, was identified in the screen of the *Arabidopsis* leaf proteome and found to contain carbamates on multiple lysine residues. There was a convincing confidence score for the presence of a carbamate on lysines 65 and 115. A third putative carbamate was identified on lysine 98, however the data for this peptide was of poor quality so this is less certain (Linthwaite 2017, unpublished data). LTP1 is known to be expressed in the epidermal cells of the leaves and stem, as well as in the flower and the protoderm of the embryo. This expression pattern is consistent with a potential role for this protein in both defence against pathogens and cuticle deposition (Thoma *et al.* 1994).

The presence of carbamate modifications on *Arabidposis* LTP1 indicate that CO₂ concentration may influence the activity of this protein. LTP1 was selected for further investigation in to the effect of carbamate formation on the function of proteins for various reasons. Two of the three carbamates potentially present on this protein were confidently identified by mass

61

spectrometry data analysis software. Additionally, homologous proteins from other plant species have previously been successfully expressed and purified and assaying the lipid binding activity of LTPs is relatively straightforward (Bogdanove *et al.* 2016).

This chapter will cover expression and purification of *Arabidopsis* LTP1 and the use of the fluorescent probe TNS to investigate the effect of CO_2 on the lipid binding activity of this protein. It will also examine the effect of CO_2 on the activity of a mutant LTP1 in which lysine 65 has been mutated to an alanine residue and discuss further experiments which may help fully elucidate the effect of carbamate formation on the function of this protein.

4.2 Expression

The amino acid sequence for Arabidopsis LTP1 is shown below with the lysines containing putative carbamates highlighted (Figure 4-1).

MAGVMKLACLLLACMIVAGPITSNAALSCGSVNSNLAACIGYVLQGGVI PPACCSGVKNLNSIAKTTPDRQQACNCIQGAARALGSGLNAGRAAGIPK ACGVNIPYKISTSTNCKTVR

Figure 4-1: Amino acid sequence of LTP1. Lysines 65 and 115, which are thought to be carbamylated, are highlighted in red. Lysine 98 which may also be carbamylated is highlighted in purple. Residues highlighted in blue are involved in lipid binding.

4.2.1 Test expression

The *E.coli* strain Tuner Rosetta was investigated for the expression of recombinant LTP1. The LTP1 (Figure 4-1) with an attached polyhistidine tag was purchased from Genscript in the plasmid vector *pET14b*. Tuner Rosetta cells were transformed with this plasmid and a small-scale test expression was performed (2.11). Expression of LTP1 was induced with either 0.2 mM or

2 mM IPTG and samples were taken before induction, 1 h after induction and 3 h after induction. Cell lysate from each sample was centrifuged to pellet any insoluble protein and the resultant supernatant and pellet were run on SDS-PAGE gels.

Successfully expressed LTP1 was shown to be present in the pellet from samples 1 h and 3 h after induction, induced with either 2 mM or 0.2 mM IPTG. Some protein was also observed at the correct molecular weight for LTP1 in the pellet of the un-induced samples, suggesting a degree of leaky expression. No LTP1 was observed in the supernatant of any of the samples. This indicates that LTP1 is likely to be found in insoluble protein aggregates called inclusion bodies, which form due to misfolding of proteins during expression in bacteria (Koppito, 2000). This protein therefore needed to be solubilised and refolded correctly following expression. Analysis of the SDS-PAGE gel indicated that most protein was located in the pellet 3 h after induction with 0.2 mM IPTG. Therefore these conditions were used for large-scale expression of LTP1.

4.2.2 Large-scale expression

Large-scale expression of LTP1 was carried out to produce enough protein to assay binding activity (2.12). Following expression, LTP1 is found in an insoluble form within inclusion bodies. Therefore solubilisation and refolding of this protein were required before purification was possible. Inclusion bodies were washed with a series of centrifugation and sonication steps. They were then resuspended in 6 M urea and incubated over night to solubilise the aggregated protein. The protein was refolded by diluting the solution with PBS in a ratio of 1: 10 and incubating for 30 min.

The polyhistidine tag present on the refolded LTP1 allowed purification by nickel affinity chromatography. This protein was found to have high affinity for

62

the nickel resin. Elution buffers containing concentrations of imidazole from 50 mM to 1 M were required to elute all the protein from the resin. Wash fractions produced by this purification process were run on an SDS-PAGE gel and the results can be seen in Figure 4-2.



Figure 4-2: SDS page gel of wash fractions produced by purification of LTP1-WT. Protein in lane A was eluted with 50 mM imidazole, lane B with 100 mM, lane C with 200 mM, lane D with 400 mM and lane E with 1 M. LTP1 can be seen between the 15 kDa and 10 kDA protein markers.

LTP1 can clearly be seen on the SDS-PAGE gel at its expected molecular weight of 12 kDa. This protein is very pure in all fractions with very little contamination visible. The fraction eluted with 50 mM imidazole contains very little protein, again indicating that LTP1 has a particularly high affinity for the nickel resin. All fractions were combined for further experiments. Although correct refolding of this protein could not be confirmed, later experiments indicated that an active form of this protein was present in samples.

4.3 Assaying lipid binding of WT LTP1

LTPs are characterised by their ability to bind and transport lipids (Carvalo and Gomes, 2007). It was therefore hypothesised that if the carbamates identified on LTP1 are functionally relevant, it is likely that they may play a role in lipid binding. A lipid-binding assay was developed to investigate the effect of these carbamates on the lipid binding affinity of this protein.

The florescent probe 6-(*p*-Toluidino)-2-naphthalenesulfonic acid (TNS) fluoresces only when bound to hydrophobic lipid binding pockets of proteins. TNS is known to bind competitively to the lipid-binding pocket of LTPs and has previously been used successfully to measure the lipid binding affinity of a pea LTP1 (Bogdanov *et al.* 2016). These studies measured displacement of TNS by biological lipids to determine the affinity of the protein for specific lipids. However, as binding of TNS to LTP1 may also be affected by the concentration of CO₂, we have simplified this assay by directly measuring the binding of the probe to the protein. The fluorescence of TNS was then used to estimate the lipid binding capability of the *Arabidopsis* LTP1 under different conditions.

4.3.1 TNS dose response curves

Changes in the binding affinity of LTP1 for the fluorescent probe TNS will be easier to observe when assays are performed using a concentration of TNS which is close to the dissociation constant (K_d) for this interaction. The K_d is the concentration of TNS at which half of the total molecules of LTP1 protein are associated with the probe (Bisswanger, 2008). In order to determine the K_d for the interaction of TNS with LTP1, a dose response curve was produced (2.16). Increasing concentrations of TNS from 0.625 μ M to 160 μ M were combined with LTP1 in measurement buffer and the fluorescence measured. Fluorescence was then plotted against TNS concentration (Figure 4-3).



Figure 4-3: Dose response curve showing change in fluorescence with increasing TNS concentration.

From the dose response curve produced (Figure 4-3) it can be seen that maximum fluorescence, when all the protein is bound to TNS, is occurs with approximately 50 μ M TNS. The fluorescence is at half the maximum value when around 8.7 μ M of TNS is present, indicating that this is the K_d for this interaction.

4.3.2 Assaying lipid binding activity with and without CO₂

In order to investigate whether the carbamates identified on LTP1 contribute to lipid binding activity, the ability of this protein to bind TNS was measured both in the presence and absence of CO₂.

The assay developed above is simple and quick to perform and can therefore be assembled easily within a nitrogen atmosphere chamber. This allows for more efficient and thorough removal of CO₂ than was possible for earlier experiments with FBA1. The measurement buffer for this assay was degassed before being taken in to the chamber and the protein samples and TNS probe were purged for 3 min prior to being taken in to the nitrogen atmosphere.

The assay was assembled both inside the nitrogen atmosphere cabinet in the absence of CO_2 and on the bench at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. TNS and LTP1 were combined in measurement buffer and mixed well. A control sample containing TNS and measurement buffer but no protein was also prepared. Fluorescence of all samples was measured. For the assay in the absence of CO_2 , samples had to be removed from the nitrogen atmosphere cabinet before fluorescence could be measured. This was done to prevent atmospheric CO_2 affecting TNS binding during measurement, however it was not possible to ensure that the protein did not interact at all with CO_2 . The fluorescence of the control samples (background fluorescence) were taken away from the values produced for samples containing LTP1. The results of these assays are presented in Figure 4-5.

67



Figure 4-5: Fluorescence of TNS bound to LTP1 in the absence of CO_2 and at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. Mean values (n = 8) are presented here and error bars represent the standard error.

Figure 4-5 shows that in the absence of CO_2 , fluorescence was 58 % lower than when the assay was performed at atmospheric $[CO_2]$. This indicates a corresponding reduction in binding of TNS to LTP1 when CO_2 was absent. All data from these experiments was analysed using a Shapiro-Wilk normality test and found to be normally distributed. An unpaired T-test indicated that the difference in fluorescence between the assays with and without CO_2 is statistically significant (P < 0.0001).

Limitations of this experiment include difficulties in removing CO_2 from the system. Although the TNS and protein were purged before being added to assays, it was not feasible to ensure that all CO_2 was removed from these. Additionally, the samples prepared in the absence of CO_2 had to be measured under atmospheric conditions. It is therefore possible that some inorganic carbon was present in these samples when measurement took place. A further limitation of this experimental set up is that it was not possible to

remove only CO_2 from the system as the nitrogen atmosphere cabinet lacks other components also found in air. For this reason it is not possible to discern whether the observed effect is due only to the absence of CO_2 .

However, assuming that the observed effect is due to the presence or absence of CO₂, these results suggest that LTP1 requires CO₂ for efficient TNS binding. It is therefore likely that one or more of the carbamates observed on this protein increase the affinity of the protein for lipids. It should be noted that TNS is not a biological lipid and therefore it can only be inferred that this effect would also occur for binding of LTP1 to biologically relevant lipids. Additionally, from this data alone it is not possible to identify which carbamylated lysine residues play a role in lipid binding. In order to determine which carbamates are responsible for this, the binding activity of mutants lacking these carbamylated lysine residues must be assayed.

4.4 Assaying lipid binding activity of the mutant LTP1-K65A

The presence of CO_2 at atmospheric concentrations appears to increase the lipid binding activity of LTP1, compared with the protein in the absence of CO_2 . However, from the results of the experiments performed so far it is not possible to determine which carbamates are responsible for this difference. In order to determine the effect of an individual carbamate on the lipid binding activity of this protein, a mutant was made in which lysine 65 was mutated to an alanine. This residue was chosen for investigation as this carbamate was identified with the best confidence score by Linthwaite (2017). An alanine residue was selected to replace the lysine as this is an inert residue and is therefore unlikely to have unwanted effects on the chemical properties of the protein.

4.4.1 Expression

The plasmid *pET14b-LTP1-K65A* was purchased from Genscript and transformed in to Tuner Rosetta *E. coli* cells. This mutant was expressed, refolded and purified in the same manner as the WT protein (2.12-2.14). Samples from wash fractions produced in the purification process were run on an SDS-PAGE gel (Figure 4-6).



Figure 4-6: SDS-PAGE gel showing wash fractions from purification of LTP1-K65A. Protein in lane A was eluted with 50 mM imidazole, lane B with 100 mM, lane C with 200 mM, lane D with 400 mM and lane E with 1 M. LTP1 can be seen between the 15 kDa and 10 kDA protein markers.

This SDS-PAGE gel (Figure 4-6) indicated that LTP1-K65A was present in all fractions at the predicted molecular weight of 12 kDa. Significantly less protein is present in the fraction eluted with 50 mM imidazole than in other fractions.
All fractions contain relatively pure protein with very little contaminant visible in any of the lanes. This gel closely resembles the SDS-PAGE gel produced following purification of the WT protein (figure 4-2) indicating a similar level of success in expressing and purifying both proteins.

4.4.2 Assaying lipid binding activity of K65A in the presence and absence of $\ensuremath{\text{CO}_2}$

The affinity of the LTP1-K65A mutant protein for the fluorescent probe TNS was investigated in the presence and absence of CO_2 . It was hypothesised that the carbamate located on lysine 65 of the LTP1-WT is responsible for the increase in TNS binding activity observed at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations compared with the absence of CO_2 . If this is the case, changes in CO_2 concentration should have no effect on the binding ability of the K65A mutant protein.

This assay was performed both inside a nitrogen atmosphere cabinet and on the bench at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, in the same manner as for the WT protein (2.15). Control samples containing TNS but no protein were also assembled under both conditions. The limitations of this were the same as for assays with LTP1-WT. The mean fluorescence intensity was calculated and the background fluorescence (mean fluorescence of control samples) was taken away from this value. The results of these assays are shown in Figure 4-7.

71





Figure 4-7 clearly shows that the measured fluorescence was lower in the absence of CO_2 than at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, with fluorescence in absence of CO_2 at 60 % of the fluorescence measured at atmospheric CO_2 . This indicates that TNS binding to LTP1 was reduced in the absence of CO_2 . The data obtained from these assays did not pass a Shapiro-Wilke normality test, indicating that it is not normally distributed. A parametric statistical test such as an ANOVA was therefore not appropriate to analyse this data. A Mann-Whitney U test was used instead, and showed that the difference in fluorescence observed between the two conditions is statistically significant (P < 0.05).

Due to the K65A mutation, no carbamate is present on residue 65 of this protein at any concentration of CO_2 . However, a significant difference in

binding activity is still observed between the two conditions tested here. The observed difference in fluorescence for the mutant protein (60 %) is comparable to that observed for the WT protein (58 %) and falls within the standard error for the LTP1-WT results. This suggests that the carbamate observed on lysine 65 of the WT LTP1 is not responsible for increasing the affinity of this protein for TNS in the presence of CO₂.

4.4.3 Dose response curve

The results of the above experiment indicate that the K65A mutation does not affect the affinity of LTP1 for TNS. In order to confirm this, a dose response curve for binding of LTP1-K65A to TNS was produced. It was hypothesized that the K_d for this interaction would be the same as the carbamate on K65A of LP1-WT does not appear to increase the affinity of the protein for the lipid probe, the K_d for the interaction of TNS and the mutant protein will be the same as for the WT.

LTP1-K65A protein was combined with increasing concentrations of TNS and the fluorescence measured (2.16). The results of these assays are presented in Figure 4-8.



Figure 4-8: Dose response curve for LTP1-K65A and LTP1-WT showing change in fluorescence with increasing TNS concentration.

Figure 4-8 shows dose response curves for both the K65A mutant protein and the WT. It appears from this figure that slightly higher concentrations of TNS are required for the mutant to reach maximum binding than the WT. The fluorescence of the LTP1-K65A assays reached half its maximum value when the concentration of TNS was 11.7 μ M. This suggests that the K_d for the interaction of LTP1-K65A and TNS is higher than that of the WT protein and probe. This mutant protein may therefore have a lower binding affinity for the probe than the WT. However, due to time constraints this assay was only repeated twice. It is therefore not possible to determine from this data alone whether this difference in K_d is significant.

4.5 Binding of LTP1 to biologically relevant lipids

All lipid-binding experiments discussed so far have taken advantage of the ability of LTP1 to bind TNS to measure lipid binding affinity. However, this fluorescent probe is artificially made and is not present naturally in plants. It was therefore important to assess the ability of purified LTP1 to bind physiologically relevant lipids. The lipids phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylcholine (PC) and oleoyl coA (OC) were chosen for preliminary investigations as they were readily available and are all present in plant cells. PE and PC are phospholipids found as part of the lipid bilayer (Vance *et al.* 2012). OC is a fatty acid found in both animal and plant oils (Young, 2002).

LTP1-WT protein was combined with TNS and the lipid of interest in measurement buffer. A control sample containing protein and TNS but no biological lipid was also prepared and the fluorescence of all samples was measured. When a lipid binds to LTP1 it will displace TNS, resulting in a decrease in fluorescence (Bogdanove *et al.* 2016). Therefore a lower fluorescence reading indicates that LTP1 has greater affinity for that particular lipid. The results of this investigation are shown in Figure 4-9, with fluorescence expressed as a percentage of the value measured in the absence of biological lipid.



Figure 4-9: Fluorescence of assays with biological lipid present, expressed as a percentage of the fluorescence measured for the no-lipid control. Mean values are presented here (n = 3) and error bars represent the standard error.

All the biological lipids tested here resulted in a decrease in fluorescence, indicating that all are able to bind to LTP1. Oleoyl coA showed the greatest reduction in fluorescence, measuring at only 21 % of the fluorescence of the no-lipid control. The protein also showed considerable affinity for Phosphatidylethanolamine, with fluorescence reduced to 31 % of the control. When phosphatidylcholine was tested, fluorescence decreased to 78 % of the control value. This indicates that LTP1 does bind to this lipid, however with considerably lower affinity than to the others tested.

The results of these preliminary investigations in to binding of LTP1 to

biologically relevant lipids indicate that the purified protein is able to bind multiple plant lipids with varying degrees of affinity. Due to time constraints on this project no other lipids were tested in this manner, however it would be interesting to explore binding of LTP1 to a range of different potential interactors. Additionally, it would be interesting to investigate the effect of CO_2 concentration on binding of LTP1 to biologically relevant lipids to confirm that the presence of CO_2 enhances binding to naturally occurring plant lipids as well as to the fluorescent probe TNS.

4.5 Discussion and Conclusion

Purified LTP1 protein was able to bind to the probe TNS, stimulating production of fluorescence and allowing measurement of binding activity. In the absence of CO₂, the ability of LTP1-WT to bind TNS was significantly reduced, indicating a role for CO₂ in lipid binding. Three putative carbamates have previously been identified on lysine residues in this protein (Linthwaite 2017). One or more of these carbamates may be responsible for increasing lipid-binding affinity in the presence of CO₂. The mutant protein LTP1-K65A, which lacks one of these carbamylated lysine residues, showed the same reduction in TNS binding in the absence of CO2 as the WT protein. This suggests that the carbamate observed on lysine 65 on LTP1-WT is not required to increase the TNS-binding affinity of this protein. This carbamate may still play a role in another aspect of protein activity, for example it may be involved in the interaction of LTP1 with other proteins or even with more biologically relevant lipids than TNS. A small difference between K_d for the interaction of LTP1-WT and LTP1-K65A with TNS was demonstrated, however not enough data was obtained to determine if this difference was statistically significant. However, as the binding affinity of LTP1-K65A was also reduced in the absence of CO₂, it is likely that one or both of the other carbamates identified (on lysines 98 and 115) may instead be responsible for the observed increase in binding to TNS in the presence of atmospheric CO₂.

77

Creating mutants which do not contain these lysine residues could further elucidate the role of these carbamates in the lipid binding activity of LTP1.

The screen conducted by Linthwaite (2017) that originally identified the carbamates present on LTP1 was conducted at a higher concentration of CO_2 than the assays performed here. Consequently it is possible that not all the observed carbamates are able to form at atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. If this is indeed the case, it may be that the carbamate on lysine 65 of LTP1-WT was not present at all during the assays discussed here. Therefore, it would be interesting to trap carbamates on purified LTP1-WT both in the absence of CO_2 and atmospheric concentrations to investigate which, if any, of these carbamates are present at this concentration of CO_2 it implies that their role in protein function is not regulatory, as they would always be present at the CO_2 concentration found in plant cells. Instead they may be a necessary part of the structure of this protein *in vivo*.

The fluorescent probe TNS was used in all experiments described here to assess lipid binding activity of LTP1. However, as discussed above, this probe is not naturally occurring and therefore may not accurately represent binding of biological lipids to this protein. For this reason, the ability of LTP1 to bind to various naturally occurring plant lipids was investigated. LTP1 was able to bind to all the lipids tested with varying degrees of affinity, indicating that this purified protein has biologically relevant activity. Due to the time scale of this project, the effect of CO_2 on this binding was not investigated, however it would be extremely interesting to investigate whether the results achieved with TNS could be replicated with these plant lipids.

Additionally, LTPs may also interact with molecules other than lipids. For example, they have been shown to bind specifically to elicitin receptors in the plasma membrane, potentially playing a role in the defence against phytopathogens (Buhot *et al.* 2001). Therefore the carbamates present on

78

LTP1, such as the carbamate on lysine 65 which does not appear to affect lipid binding, may be involved in other aspects of protein function. Further work on this protein could explore the interaction of this particular LTP with elicitin receptors and investigate whether this is affected by CO_2 concentration.

In conclusion, preliminary investigations indicate that the lipid binding activity of LTP1 is increased by the presence of CO_2 . Mutant studies demonstrate that this increase in lipid binding affinity is unlikely to be due to the putative carbamate present on lysine 65 of the WT protein. Further studies are required to investigate whether this effect is due to the presence of carbamates on lysines 98 or 115 and to fully elucidate the role of CO_2 in the function of this protein.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Work

This thesis set out to examine the effect of carbamylated lysine residues on the function of two proteins from *Arabidopsis thaliana*.

The metabolic enzyme FBA1 was known to contain a carbamate modification on the lysine residue at position 293. However, no significant difference in the specific activity of this enzyme was observed with the addition or removal of CO₂. Additionally, the ability of FBA1-WT to form a tetramer was not affected by increasing the concentration of CO₂. Nevertheless, the mutant protein FBA1-K293A, which is unable to form a carbamate, had reduced activity compared with the WT and showed impaired tetramer formation. Another mutant, K293E, was found to be unable to mimic the effect of the carbamylated lysine residue. A carbamate trapping experiment confirmed that the carbamate on FBA1-WT is not stable at atmospheric CO₂ concentrations. However, the carbamate may still have been present on some peptides in the sample. Therefore further mass spectrometry analysis is required to determine whether this modification was likely to have been successfully removed for assays in the absence of CO₂. Overall, these results suggest that while lysine 293 is important for tetramer formation and thus efficient cleavage activity, the carbamate modification is not required for this. Further investigation is required to determine whether this carbamate does play role in protein function.

The non-specific lipid binding protein LTP1 contains three putative carbamylation sites. The ability of this protein to bind to the fluorescent probe TNS was shown to be significantly reduced in the absence of CO_2 . This effect was also demonstrated for the mutant protein LTP1-K65A, which cannot form a carbamate on lysine 65. Therefore it is likely that the carbamate on lysine 65 is not responsible for the observed effect of CO_2 on the ability of the protein to

٨N

bind TNS. Further mutant studies are required to determine the effect of the other observed carbamates on the function of LTP1. Additionally, further investigation is required to find out whether this effect can be replicated using biologically relevant lipids.

Although it was not possible in the time scale of this project to fully elucidate the role of carbamates in the function of these two proteins, the investigations described in this thesis have demonstrated that carbamate modifications identified on *Arabidopsis* proteins by Linthwaite (2017) may be functionally relevant. Therefore the carbamate trapping technique developed by Linthwaite (2017) provides an effective mechanism for identifying novel targets of CO_2 signalling.

The proteins discussed in this thesis were only two from a wide range of *Arabidopsis* proteins that were found to contain carbamate modifications. The methods developed in this project for assaying protein activity in the absence of CO₂ could be used in future experiments to determine the effect of carbamates on the function of other such proteins. In addition, *in vivo* mutant studies could be conducted to examine the physiological effect of these carbamylated proteins on plant growth and development.

The development of a novel technique to identify carbamate modifications on proteins under physiologically relevant conditions has provided us with an invaluable new resource for investigating the biological effect of CO_2 (Linthwaite, 2017). Further proteomic screens could be performed using this method to identify carbamylated proteins in a variety of organisms and cell types. There is huge potential for this technique to be used to greatly increase out understanding of how carbamates contribute to protein function as well as identifying new proteins involved in CO_2 signalling.

References

Abraham, S., Kobayashi, T., John Solaro, R., and Gaponenko, V. (2009) Differences in lysine pKa values may be used to improve NMR signal dispersion in reductively methylated proteins. *J Biomol NMR* 43, 239-246

Andersson, I. (2008) Catalysis and regulation in Rubisco. *J. Exp. Bot.* 59, 1555-1568

Arondel. V, Vergnolle. C, Cantrel. C, Kader.J-C, (2000) Lipid transfer proteins are encoded by a small multigene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Science* 157, 1, 1-12

Azzam, Z., Sharabi, K., Guetta, J., Bank, E., and Gruenbaum, Y. (2010) The physiological and molecular effect of elevated CO2 levels. *Cell Cycle* 9, 1528-1532

Bisswanger, H. (2008). *Enzyme Kinetics: Principles and Methods*. Weinheim: Wiley-VCH. p. 302

Bogdanov IV, Shenkarev ZO, Finkina El Melnikova DN, Rumynskiy El, Arseniev AS, Ovchinnikova TV (2016) A novel lipid transfer protein from the pea Pisum sativum: isolation, recombinant expression, solution structure, antifungal activity, lipid binding, and allergenic properties. *BMC Plant Biol.* 3,16,107

Buhot N, Douliez JP, Jacquemard A, Marion D, Tran V, Maume BF, Milat ML, Ponchet M, Mikès V, Kader JC, Blein JP. (2001) A lipid transfer protein binds to a receptor involved in the control of plant defence responses. *FEBS Lett.* 509, 27–30

Carvalho A, Gomes V. (2007) Role of plant lipid transfer proteins in plant cell physiology-A concise review. *Peptides*. 28, 1144–53

Dawson, R. Ben (1985). *Data for biochemical research* (3rd ed.). Oxford: Clarendon Press. p. 122.

Dementin, S., Bouhss, A., Auger, G., Parquet, C., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., Dideberg, O., van Heijenoort, J. and Blanot, D. (2001), Evidence of a functional requirement for a carbamoylated lysine residue in MurD, MurE and MurF synthetases as established by chemical rescue experiments. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 268, 5800–5807.

Esau, K. (1977). Anatomy of Seed Plants. Wiley and Sons. p. 88

Flechner, A., Gross, W., Martin, W. F., and Schnarrenberger, C. (1999).

Chloroplast class I and class II aldolases are bifunctional for fructose-1,6biphosphate and sedoheptulose-1,7-biphosphate cleavage in the Calvin cycle. *FEBS Lett.* 447, 200–202.

Geng-Yin Lv, Xiao-Guang Guo, Li-Ping Xie, Chang-Gen Xie, Xiao-Hong Zhang, Yuan Yang, Lei Xiao, Yu-Ying Tang, Xing-Lai Pan, Ai-Guang Guo, Hong Xu (2017) Molecular Characterization, Gene Evolution, and Expression Analysis of the Fructose-1, 6-bisphosphateAldolase (FBA) Gene Family in Wheat(Triticum aestivum L.). *Front. Plant Sci.* 8,1030

Giri, A. Armstrong, B, Rajashekar, C. (2016). Elevated Carbon Dioxide Level Suppresses Nutritional Quality of Lettuce and Spinach. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*. 7, 246-258.

Gray JE, Holroyd GH, van der Lee FM, Bahrami AR, Sijmons PC, Woodward FI, Schuch W, Hetherington AM (2000) The HIC signalling pathway links CO2 perception to stomatal development. *Nature*.; 408(6813), 713-6

Gros, G., and Bauer, C. (1978) High pK value of the N-terminal amino group of the γ -chain causes low CO2 binding of human fetal hemoglobin. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 80, 56-62

Guerbette F, Grosbois M, Jolliot-Croquin A, Kader J-C, Zachowski A (1999) Comparison of lipid binding and transfer properties of two lipid transfer proteins from plants. *Biochemistry*. 38, 14131–7.

Gutknecht, J., Bisson, M., and Toesteson, F. (1977) Diffusion of carbon dioxide through lipid bilayer membranes. Effects of carbonic anhydrase, bicarbonate and unstirred layers. *Journal of General Physiology* 69, 779-794

Hall R, De Sordi L, MacCallum D, Topal H, Eaton R, Bloor J, Robinson G, Levin L, Buck, J, Wang Y, Gow N, Steegborn C, Muhlschlegel F. (2010). CO2 Acts as a Signalling Molecule in Populations of the Fungal Pathogen *Candida albicans. PLoS Pathog*. 18, 6(11)

Hampe, E. M., and Rudkevich, D. M. (2003) Exploring reversible reactions between CO2 and amines. *Tetrahedron* 59, 9619-9625

Haworth, M., Hoshika, Y., and Killi, D. (2016) Has the Impact of Rising CO₂ on Plants been Exaggerated by Meta-Analysis of Free Air CO₂ Enrichment Studies? *Front Plant Sci* 7, 1153

Hetherington, A. M., and Raven, J. A. (2005) The biology of carbon dioxide. *Current Biology* 15, 406-410

IPCC, 2014: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental

Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, p151.

Jimenez-Morales, D., Adamian, L., Shi, D., and Liang, J. (2014) Lysine carboxylation: unveiling a spontaneous post-translational modification. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography* 70, 48-57

Jörgensen, I., and Stiles, W. (1917) Carbon Assimilation. *New Phytologist* 16, 77-104

Jung HW, Kim W, Hwang BK. (2003). Three pathogen-inducible genes encoding lipid transfer protein from pepper are differentially activated by pathogens, abiotic, and environmental stresses. *Plant cell Environ*. 26(6), 915-928

Kader, J-C. (1997) Lipid-transfer proteins: a puzzling family of in plant proteins. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2, 66–70

Kimball, B. A. (1983) Carbon dioxide and agricultural yield: an assemblage and analysis of 430 prior observations. *Agronomy journal* 75, 779-788

Kimball, B. A. (2016) Crop responses to elevated CO₂ and interactions with H₂O, N, and temperature. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 31, 36-43

Kim, T.-H., Böhmer, M., Hu, H., Nishimura, N., and Schroeder, J. I. (2010) Guard cell signal transduction network: advances in understanding abscisic acid, CO2, and Ca2+ signaling. *Annual review of plant biology* 61, 561

King, G. J., Gazzola, C., Blakeley, R. L., and Zerner, B. (1986) Triethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate as an ethylating agent in aqueous solution. *Inorganic Chemistry* 25, 1078-1078

Knight, S., Andersson, I., and Branden, C.-I. (1990) Crystallographic analysis of Ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase from spinach at 2.4 A resolution. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 215, 113-160

Kopito, R. R. (2000) Aggresomes, inclusion bodies and protein aggregation. *Trends in Cell Biology* 10, 524-530

Leakey, A. D., Ainsworth, E. A., Bernacchi, C. J., Rogers, A., Long, S. P., and Ort, D. R. (2009) Elevated CO2 effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: six important lessons from FACE. *J Exp Bot* 60, 2859-2876

Linthwaite V. (2017) Development of a novel proteomics tool for the discovery of unknown carbamates. Doctoral thesis, Durham University

Liu, H., and Naismith, J. H. (2008) An efficient one-step site-directed deletion, insertion, single and multiple-site plasmid mutagenesis protocol. *BMC Biotechnology* 8, 91-91

Loladze, I. (2014) Hidden Shift of the Ionome of Plants Exposed to Elevated CO2 Depletes Minerals at the Base of Human Nutrition. *eLife*, 3

Long SP1, Ainsworth EA, Leakey AD, Nösberger J, Ort DR (2006). Food for thought: lower-than-expected crop yield stimulation with rising CO2 concentrations. *Science*;312(5782),1918-21.

Lorimer, G., and Miziorko, H. (1980) Carbamate formation on the e-amino group of a lysyl residue as the basis for the activation of Ribulosebisphosphate Carboxylase by CO2 and Mg2+. *Biochemistry* 19, 5321-5328

Lorimer, G. (1979) Evidence for the existence of discrete activator and substrate sites for CO2 on Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase. *J Biol Chem* 254, 5599-5601

Lu W1, Tang X, Huo Y, Xu R, Qi S, Huang J, Zheng C, Wu CA (2012). Identification and characterization of fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolase genes in Arabidopsis reveal a gene family with diverse responses to abiotic stresses. *Gene*;503(1),65-74.

Meigh, L., Greenhalgh, S. A., Rodgers, T. L., Cann, M. J., Roper, D. I., and Dale, N. (2013) CO2 directly modulates connexin 26 by formation of carbamate bridges between subunits, *elife*, 1-13

Metz, B., Davidson, O., De Coninck, H., Loos, M., & Meyer, L. (2005). *IPCC special report on carbon dioxide capture and storage*. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva (Switzerland). Working Group III.

Mininno, M., Brugiere, S., Pautre, V., Gilgen, A., Ma, S., Ferro, M., Tardif, M., Alban, C., and Ravanel, S. (2012) Characterization of chloroplastic fructose 1,6-bisphosphate aldolases as lysine-methylated proteins in plants. *J Biol Chem* 287, 21034-21044

Miziorko H.M (1979) Ribulose-1,5-biphosphate carboxylase. Evidence in support of the existence of distinct CO2 activator and CO2 substrate sites. *J. Biol. Chem.* 254, 270-2

Morollo, A., Petsko, G., and Ringe, D. (1999) Structure of a Michaelis complex analogue: Propionate binds in the substrate carboxylate site of Alanine Racemase. *Biochemistry* 38, 3293-3301

Morrow, J., Keim, P., and Gurd, F. (1974) CO2 adducts of certain amino acids, peptides, and sperm whale myoglobin studied by carbon 13 and proton nucleear magnetic resonance. *J Biol Chem* 249, 7484-7494

Negi, J., Matsuda, O., Nagasawa, T., Oba, Y., Takahashi, H., Kawai-Yamada, M., Uchimiya, H., Hashimoto, M., and Iba, K. (2008) CO2 regulator SLAC1 and its homologues are essential for anion homeostasis in plant cells. *Nature* 452, 483-486

O'Leary MH, Jaworski RJ, and Hartman FC (1979) 13C nuclear magnetic resonance study of the CO2 activation of ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase from *Rhodospirillum rubrum*. *PNAS* 76 (2), 673-675

Pearson, M. A., Schaller, R. A., Michel, L. O., Karplus, P. A., and Hausinger, R. P. (1998) Chemical rescue of Klebsiella aerogenes urease variants lacking the carbamylated-lysine nickel ligand. *Biochemistry* 37, 6214-6220

Perham RN (1990). "The fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolases: same reaction, different enzymes". *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 18 (2), 185–7

Perrella, M., and Rossi-Bernardi, L. (1980) The Determination of CO2 Bound to Hemoglobin as Carbamate. in *Biophysics and Physiology of Carbon Dioxide* (Bauer, C., Gros, G., and Bartels, H. eds.), Springer Berlin Heidelberg. pp 75-83

Portis, A. R., Salvucci, M. E., and Ogren, W. L. (1986) Activation of ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase at physiological CO2 and ribulosebisphosphate concentrations by Rubisco activase. *Plant Physiology* 82, 967-971

Raines, C. A. (2003) The Calvin cycle revisited. *Photosynth Res* 75, 1-10

Rao MV1, Hale BA, Ormrod DP (1995) Amelioration of Ozone-Induced Oxidative Damage in Wheat Plants Grown under High Carbon Dioxide (Role of Antioxidant Enzymes). Plant Physiol;109(2), 421-432.

Salcedo G, Sánchez-Monge R, Barber D, Díaz-Perales A. (2007) Plant nonspecific lipid transfer proteins: an interface between plant defence and human allergy. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1771, 781–91

Schwarte, S. and Bauwe, H (2007). Identification of the Photorespiratory 2-Phosphoglycolate Phosphatase, PGLP1, in Arabidopsis1 *Plant Physiol*. 2007 Jul; 144(3), 1580–1586

Stadie, W. C., and O'Brien, H. (1936) The carbamate equilibrium: I. the equilibrium of amino acids, carbon dioxide and carbamates in aqueous solution; with a note on the ferguson-roughton carbamate method. *J. Biol. Chem.* 112, 723-758

Stec B. (2012) Structural mechanism of RuBisCO activation by carbamylation of the active site lysine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*;109(46),18785-90

Stitt, M., and Krapp, A. (1999) The interaction between elevated carbon dioxide and nitrogen nutrition: the physiological and molecular background. *Plant, Cell & Environment* 22, 583-621

Taylor C, Cummins E (2011) Regulation of gene expression by carbon dioxide. *J Physiol*.; 589(Pt 4), 797–803.

Thoma S., Hecht U., Kippers A., Botella J., De Vries S., Somerville C., (1994) Tissue-Specific Expression of a Gene Encoding a Cell Wall-Localized Lipid Transfer Protein from *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol* 105, 35-45

Thoma, S., Kaneko, Y. and Somerville, C. (1993), A non-specific lipid transfer protein from *Arabidopsis* is a cell wall protein. *The Plant Journal*, 3, 427–436

Uehlein, N., Lovisolo, C., Siefritz, F., and Kaldenhoff, R. (2003) The tobacco aquaporin NtAQP1 is a membrane CO2 pore with physiological functions. *Nature* 425, 734-737

Vahisalu, T., Kollist, H., Wang, Y.-F., Nishimura, N., Chan, W.-Y., Valerio, G., Lamminmaki, A., Brosche, M., Moldau, H., Desikan, R., Schroeder, J. I., and Kangasjarvi, J. (2008) SLAC1 is required for plant guard cell S-type anion channel function in stomatal signalling. *Nature* 452, 487-491

Vance, J. Tasseva, G. (2012). "Formation and function of phosphatidylserine and phosphatidylethanolamine in mammalian cells". *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. 1831 (3), 543–54

Wittig, I.; Braun, H.P.; Schägger, H. (2006). "Blue native PAGE". *Nat. Protoc.* 1 (1): 418–428.

Woodward F. I. (1987). Stomatal numbers are sensitive to increases in CO2 from pre-industrial levels. *Nature* 327, 617–618

Xu, Z., Jiang, Y., Jia, B., and Zhou, G. (2016) Elevated-CO2 Response of Stomata and Its Dependence on Environmental Factors. *Front Plant Sci* 7, 657

Yamaguchi, K., and Hausinger, R. P. (1997) Substitution of the Urease Active Site Carbamate by Dithiocarbamate and Vanadate. *Biochemistry* 36, 15118-15122

Young, J. (2002). Chemical Laboratory Information Profile: Oleic Acid. *Journal of Chemical Education*. 79, 24.